
[image: image1.jpg]) SIC PERMANET

| _rocus | 4
Ontario

VT INCEPIT

2\




ONTARIO ENERGY BOARD
	FILE NO.:
	EB-2023-0336
	Ontario Power Generation Inc.

	VOLUME:

DATE:
	Technical Conference
April 4, 2024
	


EB-2023-0336
THE ONTARIO ENERGY BOARD
Ontario Power Generation Inc.

Application relating to impacts from the Market Renewal Program on prescribed generating facilities and the disposition of balances in its deferral and variance accounts
Technical Conference held in person and by videoconference

from 2300 Yonge Street, 25th Floor, Toronto, Ontario,

on Thursday, April 4, 2024, commencing at 9:31 a.m.

----------------------------------------

TECHNICAL CONFERENCE
----------------------------------------

IAN RICHLER
Board Counsel

MUHAMMAD YUNUS
Board Staff

ANDREW PIETREWICZ
LILLIAN ING
CHARLES KEIZER
Ontario Power Generation (OPG)
SABA ZADEH

EVELYN WONG

SHELLEY GRICE
Association of Major Power Consumers in Ontario (AMPCO)

TOM LADANYI
Coalition of Concerned Manufacturers and Businesses of Canada (CCMBC)

JULIE GIRVAN
Consumers Council of Canada (CCC)

KENT ELSON
Environmental Defence (ED)
AMANDA MONTGOMERY

AARON KUCHARCZUK
Independent Electricity System
BEVERLY NOLLERT
Operator (IESO)

GEORGE DIMITROPOULOS
BILL WILBUR

MARK RUBENSTEIN
School Energy Coalition (SEC)

BOHDAN DUMKA
Society of United Professionals
COLIN FRASER
(SUP)

1--- On commencing at 9:31 a.m.


1Land Acknowledgement


2Preliminary Matters


5ONTARIO POWER GENERATION - PANEL 1



M. Kirk, L. Arseneau-MacKinnon, P. Seguin, 

D. Tyndall, S. Viswanathan, A. Kogan
6Examination by Mr. Ladanyi


30Examination by Ms. Grice


47--- Recess taken at 11:00 a.m.


47--- On resuming at 11:20 a.m.


48Examination by Mr. Rubenstein


85--- Luncheon recess taken at 12:34 p.m.


85--- On resuming at 1:33 p.m.


85Examination by Ms. Girvan


99Examination by Mr. Kucharczuk


103Examination by Mr. Elson


118Preliminary Matters


119--- Whereupon the conference concluded at 2:43 p.m.





NO EXHIBITS WERE FILED.
26UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.1:  TO EXPLAIN WHAT PORTION OF THE MARKET IS CONSTITUTED BY OPG'S REGULATED HYDROELECTRIC GENERATORS AND WHAT PORTION IS BY THE UNREGULATED GENERATORS OF OPG.


36UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.2: WITH REFERENCE TO SEC-02(D) ATTACHMENT 3, NO. 8, TO PROVIDE A COST BREAKDOWN SPECIFIC TO THE WINDING ISSUE, INCLUDING SCHEDULE DELAY, AND WHETHER OPG WAS SUCCESSFUL IN ANY LIQUIDATED DAMAGE RECOVERY.


37UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.3:  WITH REFERENCE TO ATTACHMENT 6, TO ADVISE WHETHER OR NOT THEY WERE SUCCESSFUL IN ACHIEVING LIQUIDATED DAMAGES DUE TO POOR CONTRACTOR SCHEDULED PERFORMANCE, AND CONFIRM THAT IT HAS BEEN CONSIDERED IN THE COST THAT OPG IS TAKING TO RECOVER


39UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.4:  ON A BEST-EFFORTS BASIS, WITH RESPECT TO THE ENTRIES IN THE CAPACITY REFURBISHMENT VARIANCE ACCOUNT, TO ADVISE THE TOTAL COVID COST BY YEAR FOR THESE PROJECTS, BROKEN OUT INTO CAPITAL AND NON-CAPITAL; TO PROVIDE A BEST-EFFORTS DISCUSSION OF THE SCHEDULE DELAY IMPACT ON INTEREST COSTS AS PART OF THE PROJECTS THAT ARE LAID OUT IN THIS EVIDENCE, AS WELL AS WHERE THERE IS REFERENCE TO ADDITIONAL OPG MANAGEMENT COSTS IN THE CONTEXT OF THOSE SCHEDULED DELAYS.


48UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.5: TO PROVIDE COMMENT ON INSTANCES WHERE A PIR WAS REQUIRED.


49UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.6: TO FILE THE REFERENCED DOCUMENT, IF IT BECOMES AVAILABLE; IF NOT AVAILABLE, TO CONFIRM THE DATES IN IT, IF KNOWN.


51UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.7: TO CONFIRM HOW MUCH OF INTERNAL OPG COSTS RELATE TO INTERNAL LABOUR COSTS.


53UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.8:  TO ADVISE THE DIFFERENCE BETWEEN THE P50 IN THE STUDY ON COMPENSATION COSTS, COMPARED TO THE ACTUAL INTERNAL OPG LABOUR COSTS THAT ARE SOUGHT FOR RECOVERY IN THIS VARIANCE ACCOUNT, ON A BEST-EFFORTS BASIS; TO INCLUDE CALCULATIONS OR ASSUMPTIONS USED.


58UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.9:  WITH REFERENCE TO H-1-1-1, TABLE 15, THE NUCLEAR CAPACITY REFURBISHMENT VARIANCE ACCOUNT, TO CONFIRM HOW MUCH OF THE COSTS ARE INTERNAL OPG LABOUR; TO CONFIRM THE DIFFERENCE BETWEEN THE P50 IN THE COMPENSATION STUDY PROVIDED IN THE 290 PROCEEDING AND THOSE INTERNAL LABOUR COSTS.


61UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.10:  WITH REFERENCE TO H-1-1-1, TABLE 7, NON-CAPITAL COSTS, TO CONFIRM HOW MUCH IS OPG LABOUR COSTS; TO COMPARE BETWEEN THE P50 IN THE COMPENSATION STUDY IN THE 290 PROCEEDING, AND THE INTERNAL LABOUR COST FOR WHICH RECOVERY IS SOUGHT IN THIS PROCEEDING.


68UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.11:  TO CONFIRM WHETHER PROJECTS OPG SEEKS RECOVERY FOR THROUGH THE CRV FOR PRE-JUNE 1, 2017, INCREASED OPERATING CAPACITY.


69UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.12:  IF THE RESPONSE TO THE PREVIOUS UNDERTAKING QUESTION IS SUCH THAT THERE WERE INCREASES IN CAPACITY RESULTING FROM ANY OF THOSE PROJECTS, TO INDICATE WHEN THAT INCREMENTAL CAPACITY CAME ONLINE.


78UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.13:  WITH REFERENCE TO SEC-04, PART B, TO CONFIRM WHETHER THE ESTIMATED LOSSES IF THE PUMP WAS OPERATIONAL ARE SIMILAR TO COLUMN XII IN THE ATTACHMENT, FORECASTE REVENUE IN THE NEXT ON-PEAK PERIOD; TO ADVISE HOW DECISIONS ON UTILIZATION WOULD BE AUDITED.


80UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.14:  WITH REFERENCE TO COLUMN XI, ADDITIONS TO SBGVA, TO CONFIRM THE CALCULATIONS USED FOR ADDITIONS.


82UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.15:  TO PROVIDE DETAIL INCLUDING MATHEMATICAL CALCULATIONS ON THE CALCULATION IN XIII, IN COLUMN P OF THE EXCEL SHEET ENTITLED "ESTIMATED LOSS IF PUMP WAS OPERATED."


83UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.16:  TO PROVIDE THE MATHEMATICAL CALCULATIONS FOR FORECAST REVENUE ACCOUNT COLUMN VII, AND NEXT ON-PEAK PERIOD BEFORE GRP COSTS.


85UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.17:  TO CLARIFY THAT DURING PERIODS OF SBG OPG WOULD NOT HAVE PUMPED THE PGS, NOT HAVE UTILIZED THE PGS MORE.


101UNDERTAKING NO. J21.18:  TO PROVIDE A MORE DETAILED RESPONSE FOR IR IESO-02B, ON THE MEANING OF "BEING CONSTRAINED OFF AS A RESULT OF THE OPERATION OF THE MARKET."


102UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.19:  TO PROVIDE A MORE DETAILED RESPONSE TO STAFF-23.


109UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.20:  TO PROVIDE A FURTHER RESPONSE TO L-H-ED-08, USING IESO DATA FOUND AT THE IESO POWER DATA DIRECTORY; IF THIS IS NOT POSSIBLE, TO EXPLAIN WHY.


111UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.21:  FOR EACH HOUR WHERE WATER IS BEING SPILT AND GAS IS OPERATING IN THE PROVINCE, CAN YOU PROVIDE A TABLE THAT NAMES THE HYDRO FACILITIES RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE SBGVA ENTRIES AND THE NAME OF THE GAS GENERATORS THAT ARE RUNNING IN THOSE HOURS, SUBJECT TO BEING ABLE TO FIND THE NECESSARY DATA IN THE ONLINE IESO POWER DATA DIRECTORY, WITH THE SAME CAVEATS AS GIVEN IN JT1.20.


113UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.22:  TO CONFIRM WHETHER OPG IS AWARE OF CIRCUMSTANCES OR SITUATIONS WHEN HYDROELECTRIC SPILL IS OCCURRING WHEN GAS-FIRED GENERATION IS RUNNING.






Thursday, April 4, 2024
--- On commencing at 9:31 a.m.


MR. RICHLER:  Good morning.  Welcome to the virtual technical conference for EB 2023-0336, which is an application by Ontario Power Generation Inc. under section 78.1 of the Ontario Energy Board Act, 1998.

The application is for, firstly, certain changes related to the implementation of the independent electricity system operators market renewable program, including changes to the hydroelectric incentive mechanism, and, secondly, for the disposition of certain deferral and variance accounts.

My name is Ian Richler, and I'm counsel with the OEB.  I am joined by Muhammad Yunus, the case manager for this application, and Lillian Ing, the hearings advisor, as well as Andrew Pietrewicz, a senior advisor in our Energy Transition Group.

As a first order of business, Ms. Ing is going to recite the land acknowledgment.

MS. ING:  Good morning, everybody.
Land Acknowledgement:


The Ontario Energy Board acknowledges that our headquarters in Toronto is located on the traditional territory of many nations, including the Mississaugas of the Credit, the Anishinaabeg, the Chippewa, the Haudenosaunee, and the Wendat Peoples.  This area is now home to many diverse First Nations, Inuit, and Métis Peoples.  We also acknowledge that Toronto is covered by Treaty 13 with the Mississaugas of the Credit.  We are grateful for this opportunity to gather and work on this land, and recognize our shared responsibility to support and be good stewards of it.  Thank you.
Preliminary Matters:


MR. RICHLER:  Thank you.  Thank you, Ms. Ing.  A few quick administrative matters before we get started.

First, this technical conference is being transcribed, and the transcription will form part of the record of the proceeding.  For the benefit of the reporter, we are recording today's session, but that recording will not be posted.

Second, a reminder that the technical conference is being live-streamed on YouTube, so be mindful, including during breaks, that there may be people watching, other than those you see on your screen.

And, finally, while the chat function is enabled and available, nothing said in the chat will be recorded or appear in the transcript of today's technical conference.

We can now proceed with appearances, starting with intervenors.  When I call on you, please state for the record your name and whom you represent.  After that, I will ask the Applicant's counsel to introduce themselves and their colleagues and the witness panel.

So I'm going to go around the room.  Let's start with the Association of Major Power Consumers in Ontario.

MS. GRICE:  Good morning, everyone.  It is Shelley Grice, representing the Association of Major Power Consumers in Ontario.

MR. RICHLER:  Good morning.  Coalition of Concerned Manufacturers and Businesses of Canada.

MR. LADANYI:  Good morning, everyone.  My name is Tom Ladanyi.  I am a consultant representing the Coalition of Concerned Manufacturers and Businesses of Canada.

MR. RICHLER:  Consumers Council of Canada.

MS. GIRVAN:  Good morning.  It is Julie Girvan.  I am with the Consumers Council of Canada as a consultant.  Thank you.

MR. RICHLER:  Environmental Defence, I'm not sure if anyone is here this morning.  I know Kent Elson said he might only be available in the afternoon.  Is anyone from Environmental Defence here now?  Okay.  IESO.

MR. KUCHARCZUK:  Aaron Kucharczuk here, counsel for IESO, and we have a couple of other teammates here, as well.

MS. NOLLERT:  Good morning.  Beverly Nollert, IESO.

MR. RICHLER:  Anyone else from IESO want to introduce themselves?  George, hi.

MR. DIMITROPOULOS:  Hey, Ian.  George Dimitropoulos, regulatory affairs.

MR. WILBUR:  And Bill Wilbur, consultant for the IESO.

MR. RICHLER:  Good morning.  School Energy Coalition.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Good morning.  Mark Rubenstein, counsel for the School Energy Coalition.

MR. RICHLER:  Society of United Professionals?

MR. DUMKA:  Good morning.  I'm Bohdan Dumka.  I am here for the Society of United Professionals, and Colin Fraser will be joining us later on in the day, as well.  Thanks.

MR. RICHLER:  Thank you.  Have I missed any intervenors?  I think that was everyone on my list.  All right, let's move on to the applicants.  Mr. Keizer, Mr. Kirk, would you like to introduce yourselves and the OPG team and then go on to introduce the OPG panel, please.

MR. KEIZER:  Yes.  It's Charles Keizer, counsel on behalf of OPG.  Joining me today from OPG regulatory affairs is Saba Zadeh, vice president regulatory affairs; Evelyn Wong, director of regulatory affairs.  Actually, Mr. Kirk is a witness on the panel.

So maybe the best thing to do is just to ask each of the witnesses to activate their cameras, if they haven't already, and to identify themselves by name and also their position at OPG.

MR. KIRK:  I'll start.  Matt Kirk, director of regulatory affairs.

MS. ARSENEAU-MACKINNON:  Lindsey Arseneau-MacKinnon, vice-president, energy markets.

MR. SEGUIN:  Paul Seguin, senior vice president of renewable generation.

MR. TYNDALL:  David Tyndall, director of new nuclear technologies.

MS. VISWANATHAN:  Suneethi Viswanathan, director of regulatory finance.

MR. KOGAN:  Alex Kogan, senior vice-president commercial integration.

MR. KEIZER:  And just one preliminary matter:  There was to be an additional witness, Marc Chidiac, who was director energy markets, and unfortunately he has come down with the Norwalk virus as of yesterday and is incapacitated and not able to attend today as a witness, so there may be some areas that -- we will do our best, our witnesses will do our best, to respond to it.  It may have been more within his specialty, but, to the extent that we cannot, we may have to provide an undertaking in respect of some of the specifics that he would have addressed.

Ms. Arseneau-MacKinnon is going to do her best to address them to the extent that she can, but, if there is an issue, we may have to take an undertaking in that regard.  It is unfortunate, but he did fall ill just late yesterday, so -- which is a problem.  But we will soldier on.  I'm sure we will be able to do the best we can.

That is the panel.  There are no other preliminary issues, though, on my screen, I don't see Mr. Kirk.  I am assuming his camera is operational and other people can see him.
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MR. RICHLER:  I can see him.

MR. KEIZER:  Excellent.  Okay.  It is just probably my configuration.

With that, I don't have any other additional issues, and the panel is available for questions and clarification.  I do note that, and I know typically it's been raised before, that today is a technical conference and for clarification, it is not expected to be a cross-examination, as in the case of a hearing, and we would certainly appreciate everyone's cooperation in that regard.  I know everyone is desirous to get the information they need, but we'll hopefully get there with everyone's patience.  Thank you very much.

MR. RICHLER:  All right.  Thank you, Mr. Keizer.

I'm looking at the schedule that was circulated by Ms. Ing, and I see that first up is CCMBC.  So, Mr. Ladanyi, over to you.
Examination by Mr. Ladanyi:


MR. LADANYI:  Thank you.  So, before I start, I want to extend special greeting to my former colleagues from OPG and actually Enbridge, as well.  To Lindsey, Sabine, Matt, and Alex, it is great to see you all.

So, as I mentioned, I'm representing the Coalition of Concerned Manufacturers and Businesses of Canada, CCMBC for short.  The coalition was formed in 2016 by a group of former members of the Canadian Manufacturers & Exporters association who were concerned about rising electricity costs and felt probably that CMA was not doing enough about it, so they wanted to be represented on their own, and this is what I'm doing.

Now, CCMBC has 418 members, and the president is Catherine Swift, who is former head of the Canadian Federation of Independent Business, and you can find more about CCMBC on its website, ccmbc.ca.

Now, I filed a letter with the Registrar on March 28th, indicating the topics and time estimates for my questions, depending on the answers, and these may take less time or more time.  I really don't know.  We'll see.  Probably less time.

So, the first interrogatory I want to turn to is H-CCMPC-02, and if we could have it on the screen, please.  Thank you.

Now, that interrogatory deals with a client and corporate campus deferral account, and I know that the deferral account has zero balance and you are not asking to clear it, but still I would like to ask you a few clarifying questions that may help me in understanding the sale of the Kipling site because, after all, they are both building sites.

Now, in your response to CCMBC-02 you said the OPG purchased this building at 1908 Colonel Sam Drive in Durham in 2023.  And I understand the building was the former head of General Motors of Canada and OPG was renting space in the building for some time prior to the purchase.

During that time you used to call the building the GM building.  What do you call it now?

MR. KOGAN:  This is going to be OPG's new corporate headquarters.

MR. KEIZER:  Can I just ask, Mr. Ladanyi, we are not asking for any recovery in respect of this building so I'm not quite sure how that fits within the scope of this proceeding.

MR. LADANYI:  Well, I'm trying to have a better understanding of how you own buildings and manage buildings and this is a good example, that's all.

I'm not going to argue anything about this particular building but some information might be useful to the commissioners in understanding, essentially, I would say your building practice.  So, maybe bear with me.  These are not unfriendly questions.  No cross-examination, I promise.

MR. KEIZER:  Yes, I understand that.  I just think if we are going to be pursuing areas of interest where you want to understand how we manage buildings, we could pursue that outside of the technical conference rather than taking up the time today.

MR. LADANYI:  Well, actually, Charles, in the time that you objected you could have asked and answered -- the questions would have been answered.  Would have been taken, like, next to no time.  They are really simple little questions.

MR. KEIZER:  I understand that, but that's just sometimes the nature of objection.

MR. LADANYI:  See though, you don't want to tell me what the building is called now?

MR. KOGAN:  We refer to this building as OPG's new corporate campus.

MR. LADANYI:  Corporate what?

MR. KOGAN:  Corporate campus.

MR. LADANYI:  Oh, new corporate campus, okay, but it is just one building with a parking lot.  There is not two buildings?

MR. KEIZER:  Okay, Tom, like, it's not at issue.  So, Mr. Ladanyi --


MR. LADANYI:  No, of course not.  Of course not.  And so, are your plans to have this building designated as a prescribed asset?

MR. KEIZER:  Can we move on Mr. Ladanyi?  This hasn't got anything to do with an issue before the proceeding.

MR. LADANYI:  So, you don't want to tell us?  So, you are, kind of, hiding from the OEB what's going on with this building?  So, this is something that you are, kind of, ashamed of, is it?

MR. KEIZER:  Mr. Ladanyi, this has nothing to do with what we're asking for today.  I am sure there will be an opportunity in the future for you to explore this when it is actually indeed relevant to the proceeding and a relief that we are actually seeking.

MR. LADANYI:  So, you are taking a hard line.  Okay, let's go to the next question.

Let's go to HCCMBC03.  So you can refer to this site as 800 Kipling Avenue or do you have some other way you want us to refer this, to the site?

MR. KOGAN:  Consistently throughout the evidence we've referred to this as the Kipling site.

MR. LADANYI:  Kipling site, all right.  I am somewhat familiar with the site.  I attended a number of meetings there when I was -- and -- when it was Ontario Hydro Research and these meetings were in the '70s, believe it or not.  And, in fact, I even took a course there at that time.

So, first when did OPG gain title to the property?

MR. KOGAN:  I don't know the answer to that question, Mr. Ladanyi.  My understanding is that the building was owned by OPG's predecessor for a number of years, Ontario Hydro.  And insofar as when OPG's departmental entity would have gained title to the building, I expect that would have been when OPG purchased the record of the former assets of Ontario Hydro in 1999.

MR. LADANYI:  So, you mentioned 1999 but in the response to SEC interrogatory and I think it is SEC -- I have it somewhere here.  SEC-2 year of 2008 is mentioned, so who owned the property between -- or the Kipling site between 1999 and 2008?

MR. KOGAN:  Can you turn to the interrogatory that was referenced, SEC-02?

MR. LADANYI:  Yes, H-SEC-02.

MR. KOGAN:  Yes.  Could we scroll up to the questions, please?  So, I believe you are referencing the response to part (e) of the question.

It requests that the continuity schedule for the Kipling site from 2008 to this disposition which is what we provided in the response.

To your question as to who own the site between 1999 and 2008, the answer would be OPG.

MR. LADANYI:  All right, so OPG actually started owning the site in 1999, okay, thank you.

So, I understand that there are several buildings on the Kipling -- the Kipling site.

Were all of the buildings owned by OPG prior to the sale?  I'm now talking about the sale which I think took place in 2022.


MR. KOGAN:  I don't know the specific layout of the site, Mr. Ladanyi, to confirm whether any buildings were owned by any parties, but I can confirm that OPG disposed of the entirety of the property that it did own on that site.

MR. LADANYI:  So what proportion of the property was occupied by OPG regulated operations at the time of the sale in 2022?

MR. KOGAN:  I think I would make reference to the OEB approved settlement proposal from EB-2020-0290 where the parties agreed that 23 percent of the site would be considered attributable to regulated operations, which is the basis for the entries made into the tracking account, sale of unprescribed Kipling site deferral account.

MR. LADANYI:  So the settlement was in 2020, so nothing changed between 2020 and 2022?  It still remained 23 percent?


MR. KOGAN:  I am referring to the 23 percent figure as the figure that underpins the amount recorded in the deferral account, and that is the subject of the positions that the parties may take in this proceeding.

MR. LADANYI:  Do you know what proportion was occupied by OPG's regulated operations in 1999, and later on in 2008?  Was it always 23 per cent?  Or did it change over those years?

MR. KOGAN:  None of OPG's assets were prescribed for regulation by the Ontario Energy Board prior to 2008.

MR. LADANYI:  I am talking about regulated operations.  Didn't OPG have regulated operations and unregulated operations?  Or were all the operations of OPG considered to be unregulated prior to 23/05 -- Ontario Regulation 23/05, which described prescribed assets?

MR. KOGAN:  Mr. Ladanyi, I can only speak to when the assets entered OEB regulation, which was in 2008, with the first proceeding being EB-2007-0905.  I don't have the history prior to that date.

MR. LADANYI:  In question (a) of the interrogatory, I asked you to provide the date of the last day of use of the property referred to -- of the Kipling site.  You indicated that you are still using the property.  Are you still -- are you paying now, paying rent to the new owner?

MR. KOGAN:  May we turn back to the interrogatory in question?

I can confirm that as indicated in part (b) of this response -- pardon me, in part (a) of this response, that there is a leaseback arrangement that is in place for this property at the present time.

MR. LADANYI:  What is the annual amount of the rent?  Or is that confidential?

MR. KOGAN:  I am thinking through how I can help clarify the evidence with respect to the amounts that are in the deferral account, Mr. Ladanyi.  Could you help me out with that?

MR. LADANYI:  I don't know the exact interest in the deferral account, but you can clarify it here; it is a technical conference.  Explain to me what exactly is the -- so it is the rent that is going into the deferral account?  Or it is not going to the...

If it is not going to the deferral account and you don't want to say what it is, just say it, "We don't want to tell you."

MR. KOGAN:  I can confirm that the deferral account as required by the settlement proposal from EB-2020-0290 captures 23 per cent of the net proceeds from the disposition of the site.  There are no entries in the deferral account related to any leaseback arrangements.

MR. LADANYI:  So, after 2022, there are no entries, after you --

MS. VISWANATHAN:  Mr. Ladanyi, the opening entry after 2022 would be 23 per cent of the remaining net proceeds that we receive from the sale in 2023.

MR. LADANYI:  Now, prior to the sale, your answer indicates that both regulated and unregulated generation operations were charged on the internal cost-based asset service fee for the use of the site.

And I want to understand, like, who was doing the charging and who was paying the charges?

MR. KOGAN:  The charges were made to each of OPG's regulated generation businesses and unregulated generation businesses for the use of OPG's essentially held asset, being the Kipling site in this particular instance.

MR. LADANYI:  So were there actual charges?  Or was this just an allocation that was done inside the accounting system?  There was no invoice being sent, was there?

MR. KOGAN:  There was no invoice being sent.  However, there are economic consequences of these charges that were made for both our regulated generation and unregulated generation businesses for whom these charges were at cost.

MR. LADANYI:  Now who was responsible to ensure that the regulated operations were not overcharged?

MR. KOGAN:  Can we take an opportunity to caucus, please?

[Witness panel confers.]


MR. KOGAN:  Mr. Ladanyi, I would refer you to our response to L-H-Staff-06, parts (c) and) (d), where, towards the bottom of page 2, we make reference that:
The methodology for determining the asset service fee was previously reviewed and found to be reasonable by external experts in conjunction with our cost allocation methodology in a variety of past proceedings before the OEB, going back to EB-2007-0905, whereby this methodology for the fee has been consistently and transparently applied, as well."

MR. LADANYI:  Very well.  That's a very nice answer.  So then these asset service fees emulate the cost that OEB regulated operations would have incurred had the Kipling property been in the rate base?

That's how I understand this works, but you can  tell -- correct me:  Did they include essentially depreciation, return on original cost of the building, capitalized part of the modifications and so on?

These are not what they are doing now, what was charged to regulated operations.  They are no different than had these sites, had the Kipling site been in rate base.

MR. KOGAN:  Mr. Ladanyi, I will make reference to interrogatory L-H-SEC-02 part (f), where we confirm that, mathematically, that the outcome of the asset service fee calculation was largely consistent with what would have been in the manner that you are describing.

However, I would note the fact that mathematically the methodology is similar does not change the fact that this is not a prescribed asset that was not included in rate base.

MR. LADANYI:  Thank you, Mr. Kogan.  Now can we turn to Exhibit N-CCMBC-04?  Thank you.  In the preamble, I quoted from your evidence the three items you are asking for the OEB to approve, and I asked you for implementation schedule and the cost of each one.  And your response, as I understand it, is that this information is not relevant.  Why would it not be relevant for the OEB to know the cost and estimate at this time?

MS. ARSENEAU-MACKINNON:  We are not seeking recovery of any costs at this time.

MR. LADANYI:  So you are saying that the Board can approve what you are asking for without knowing how long it's going to take and how much it's going to cost?  Is that what you're saying?

MR. KEIZER:  Well, the application itself is with respect to any cost recovery related to the deferral and variance accounts and then any changes related to the two specific aspects that are affected by market renewable surplus base load mechanism and the hydroelectric incentive mechanisms, so, to the extent that the costs are not recoverable -- that's alluded to in this interrogatory -- it is not relevant to the proceeding because it is not an issue before the Board.

MR. LADANYI:  Thank you, Mr. Keizer.  Now, in question (d), I asked if OPG's unregulated hydroelectric operations will be affected by the MRP.  And you answered that it's not relevant.  Maybe I could have phrased my question better.  My concern is that both regulated and unregulated operations of OPG are affected by MRP.  Is the same staff making submissions and submitting this batch data for both regulated and unregulated facilities of OPG?

MS. ARSENEAU-MACKINNON:  Yes, the same staff does do both.

MR. LADANYI:  How can the OEB be assured that the staff responsible for this is not favouring the unregulated facilities?

MR. KEIZER:  Are you talking from a market operation perspective or a bidding perspective?

MR. LADANYI:  All.  I mean it's a -- you know, I'm not familiar with the intricacies of the MRP, but I'm sure that OPG staff is, and I assume their ISO knows what's being planned, and I'm just...

Typically, when there is both regulated and unregulated operations of a company -- you can check other proceedings related to other companies -- there is, there are provisions in place that there should be no sharing of information in case that information would be improperly used to favour either regulated or unregulated.  So that's what I'm getting at.

MR. KEIZER:  Yes, I think in those circumstances you allude to are often [audio dropout] involving wireless company relative to a generation company, and those things obviously are different because one is a market-related and one is a natural monopoly.

I think the issue here is that effectively the regulated and unregulated businesses of OPG have been carrying on as they have since 2008, so, if your question is will they continue to carry on as they have previously and since 2008, I think -- I mean that's a fair question, but I think, beyond that, the operations, anything else is really beyond the scope of what we're seeking in the application.

MR. LADANYI:  So the OPG staff who are responsible for doing this work, are they currently at 700 University and they would be moving to your new corporate campus, which I'm not allowed to talk about?  You can tell me where they are now, can't you?

MS. ARSENEAU-MACKINNON:  You mean the markets team?

MR. LADANYI:  Yes.

MS. ARSENEAU-MACKINNON:  Largely, it is located at the 700 University [audio dropout]


MS. ING:  Sorry, you are cutting out now, Ms. Arseneau-MacKinnon.  I missed the last thing you said.

MS. ARSENEAU-MACKINNON:  I apologize.  I [audio dropout] as well.  The energy markets team is based out of 700 University.

MR. LADANYI:  So is part of the cost of the staff, including occupancy and facilities use cost, charged to unregulated facilities, unregulated operations, I should rather say?

MR. KEIZER:  I think that would be a question that we would deal with in a typical payment amounts proceeding as to whether or not the allocation of cost is appropriate.  That's not at issue here today.  There is no -- there is nothing related to that directly within the context of the deferral and variance amounts recovery that result in rate riders that would be applicable to that.  It's not --


MR. LADANYI:  I --


MR. KEIZER:  -- a general --


MR. LADANYI:  Go ahead.

MR. KEIZER:  This isn't about a general inquiry about how the hydroelectric regulated or unregulated businesses necessarily operate.  It is related to two previously established and approved mechanisms that the Board has put in place and how that is impacted by the market renewal program.

MR. LADANYI:  Okay.  I'll leave the subject for now.  Can you turn to exhibit CCMBC-05.  In this question, I asked:
"How many hydroelectric stations does OPG operate, and will each station have its own RT LMP (which is real-time location on marginal pricing) published by the IESO?"

And your answer was that OPG has 66 hydroelectric stations and that each one will have its own RT LMP.  Can you tell me, of those 66 stations, how many are regulated by the OEB; how many are unregulated?

MS. ARSENEAU-MACKINNON:  We have 54 regulated hydroelectric stations.

MR. LADANYI:  Thank you.  Are all 66 participating in the market?  Or will be participating in the market, if you like?

MS. ARSENEAU-MACKINNON:  Yes, all of OPG's hydroelectric facilities participate in the market currently and will continue to with market premium.

MR. LADANYI:  Then, in question B, I asked about the frequency of real-time LMP information, and your answer was that it will be published every five minutes.

So there are 66 stations, and somebody will be receiving this information every five minutes, so will OPG need to have staff on duty 24 hours a day, seven days per week, 365 days per year to monitor the IESO RT LMP data in order to make decisions and dispatch instructions for both regulated and unregulated hydroelectric stations?

MS. ARSENEAU-MACKINNON:  We currently have a control room that staffs individuals 24 hours a day and will continue to do so post market renewal.

MR. LADANYI:  But, with so much more data coming in, will you need more staff?

MS. ARSENEAU-MACKINNON:  We have not -- sorry, go ahead, Charles.

MR. KEIZER:  Well, no, I just -- it's -- I guess
I'm -- what I'm asking, Mr. Ladanyi, is what's the relevance of this question to what we are here to talk about today?

MR. LADANYI:  Well, you are asking for implementation of the MRP, which is fine, but you don't want to tell us anything about the implementation.  I'm asking how it's going to be implemented.  It seems quite relevant to me, but you don't want to tell me.  Maybe you haven't figured it out yet.  If you don't know, that's fine; you can tell me you don't know, that you are still working on it.

But it would be interesting, I think, for the OEB to know whether this is going to be a huge burden on OPG, which is going to cost ratepayers a lot of money or is it going to be a nothing?  It would be good to understand that.  I think It would be very, very relevant to what we're trying to deal with here.

MR. KEIZER:  Yes, I think, though, the point is that what we're here to talk about today is two things:  The hydroelectric incentive mechanism and the surplus base load generation, and how that's affected by the market renewal program.

This application is not asking the OEB to approve the implementation of the market renewal program or any other aspect of it, other than the fact, in anticipation of the market renewal program going into place, that those mechanisms will be dealt with.  To the extent that any of that's, you know -- and to the extent that that's affecting the cost of service, that's something that would be considered in OPG's next rebasing, but I don't think the OEB also has jurisdiction to affect the implementation other than if someone challenges a particular market rule.

So I think -- I don't think this line of questioning is relevant to the scope of the application.

MR. LADANYI:  In question (c) I asked you for numerical examples of the existing and proposed spill calculation methods, which you kindly provided.  And if we can turn to chart 1, please.  And I won't go down each line.

From what I understand, these are approximate numbers or they don't actually represent anything in the numerical example; is that right?

MS. ARSENEAU-MACKINNON:  Correct, they are an illustrative example.

MR. LADANYI:  Very good.  So, the only difference between the existing method and the proposed method is the 30 which you see there.  And we'll go down further, please.  Yes, here, market constraints.  Otherwise they are identical in terms of numerical impact.  Would that be right?  So, the market --


MS. ARSENEAU-MACKINNON:  Yes.  That's correct.

MR. LADANYI:  Now, what happens to the 30?  So, and I know this is not the exact number.  So, under the proposed method does OPG keep 30 or what happens to that 30 or who pays the 30 and who gets to keep the 30?

MS. ARSENEAU-MACKINNON:  The 30 is representative of the changes that are described in section 2.3.1 of exhibit M-1-1-1 on page 9 of 22.

So, those are the CMSCs that we have described will be captured in the surface base load generation variance account.

MR. LADANYI:  They will be there and they will be, what, it will be a debit or a credit in there?  Like, will it be charged to ratepayers or will it not be charged to ratepayers?  It is really simple -- well, I mean, I am asking you.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Sorry, just so I can follow along, what is the 30 you are referring to?

MR. LADANYI:  The market constraints which is in line J.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Thank you.

MS. ARSENEAU-MACKINNON:  So, the 30 is the megawatt-hours in the example we provided that will be booked to the surplus base load generation variance account.  The amounts recoverable through the surplus base load variance account.

MR. LADANYI:  Yes, megawatt-hours at some dollar amount.  So, it won't be 30.  It will be 30 times some price, which will be in the variance account and then I'm just asking you:  Will this be an incremental cost to ratepayers or not?  Is that hard to explain?

MS. ARSENEAU-MACKINNON:  It is an amount that is not a -- a quantification of spill that is not presently reported in this surplus base load generation variance account.  Presently under the current market constructs those amounts are compensated through congestion management settlement credits, so CMSCs.

MR. LADANYI:  I'm still trying to figure it out.  So, it is something that eventually rate ratepayers will have to pay, is that right?  30 times some price is what ratepayers will pay?

MS. ARSENEAU-MACKINNON:  It is an amount that -- it is a type of constraint that OPG has compensated for in the current market and will -- and under our proposal will continue to be compensated for post-market renewal.

The way that we are compensated in the current market is through congestion management settlement credits.  Under our proposal the way that OPG will be compensated in the future market will be through entries into the surplus base load generation variance account.

MR. LADANYI:  So, what you're saying is that the new market will have no impact on ratepayers.  It will just be -- let's say you are getting the 30.  The 30 is a credit now and, essentially; that's why there is a 40 at the bottom.  And you are saying now that the -- under the new system it will be somewhere else, but the ratepayers should not worry about?  Is that what you're saying?

MS. ARSENEAU-MACKINNON:  I'm saying that we have put a proposal forward to maintain being compensated for an appropriate volume of market constraints that are outside of OPG's control.  Currently we are compensated through congestion management settlement credits.

In the future market it will be through, under our proposal, entries into the surplus base load generation variance account.

MR. LADANYI:  I will have to think about that.  And let me go to the next interrogatory.  Please turn to MCCMBC-06.

So, I asked if OPG's regulated hydroelectric generators constituted a large portion of the market, would the shifting of hydroelectric generation from low-price hours to high-price hours increase the market price during the low-priced hours, and you said yes.  And I just have a follow-up question on this.

So, what portion of the market is constituted by OPG's regulated hydroelectric generators?  That would be a large portion, wouldn't it be?  I mean, in terms of the total, if you like, megawatt-hours.

MS. ARSENEAU-MACKINNON:  We are certainly a large generator.  I don't have a specific number in front of me.

MR. LADANYI:  Would it be more than 50 percent?

MS. ARSENEAU-MACKINNON:  I don't know.

MR. LADANYI:  So, you don't know that.  Okay.  Actually, would it be possible to have an undertaking for that, please?

MR. KEIZER:  Could we just clarify the undertaking, Tom?  Are you asking for a proportion of the overall capacity in the province or are you asking for energy generated?

MR. LADANYI:  I'm asking for energy that is going to be essentially dealt with in the market.  And so, not all the energy generated in the province is going to go through the market.  That's my understanding but you can correct me, I'm not an expert on the MRP.  And I'm trying to understand whether OPG is going to have very large market power under the new MRP and that it's going to -- potentially -- there is potential for OPG to abuse its market power.

That's what I'm getting at and you can correct me and explain me how I'd be happy to have -- if you write a long answer you can explain it all and say I'm totally wrong, there is nothing to be worried about, everything is going to be fine, OPG would never dream of abusing its market power.  But, essentially, so I can -- my question is this, if you wanted me he to phrase it to you is:  What portion of the market is constituted by OPG's regulated hydroelectric generators and what portion is by the unregulated generators of OPG?

MR. KEIZER:  That's fine.

MR. LADANYI:  Okay.  And you can answer and put in a 16-page answer and tell the board there is nothing to be worried about.  I'd be happy to see what you want answered.

MR. KEIZER:  Yes, I don't think this is an issue before the Board about market power, but to the extent you want to understand the proportion of or share of the generation in the market by OPG, which, I believe, both regulated and unregulated are operated basically the same, then we can provide that undertaking.

MR. RICHLER:  Okay let's just note that undertaking as JT1.1.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.1:  TO EXPLAIN WHAT PORTION OF THE MARKET IS CONSTITUTED BY OPG'S REGULATED HYDROELECTRIC GENERATORS AND WHAT PORTION IS BY THE UNREGULATED GENERATORS OF OPG.


MR. LADANYI:  Bear with me for a minute.  Now, please turn to exhibit M-CCMBC-07.

And in this interrogatory I asked you to please file a numerical example of the calculation of HIM using the current HIM formula.  Then in part (b), I asked you to file a numerical example of the calculation of HIM using a proposed HIM formula, and which you did and you also asked the following, subsequent interrogatory which is CCMBC 8 and you don't need to turn to that.  So, we can just turn to chart 1 in CCMBC-07.  And thank you for providing this and I hope I understand it.

So, I understand that the low-priced hour is shown in line A and the high price hour is shown in line B.  And for the low-priced hour, you show a quantity of 300 in brackets in column G for the HIM payment, and a 275 in column G for the adjustment for unintended benefit. Do these two net against each other?  Does that mean, for example, that the incentive to not generate during the low-priced hour is negative 25; is that right?

MS. ARSENEAU-MACKINNON:  Yes, the calculation of the total HIM payment would include the adjustment for the unintended benefit.  So the net of those two numbers would be the 25B that you have noted.

MR. LADANYI:  All right.  So then line B is a high-priced hour?  And does that mean that the incentive to generate during a high-priced hour is 9,600, minus the 200?  So it will be at 9,400?  Is that right?

MS. ARSENEAU-MACKINNON:  Yes.

MR. LADANYI:  So that OPG would get 9,400 if it goes to the -- and generates during the high-priced hour.  And then it would also -- that way, that would actually not lose the 25 from the low-priced hour; is that right?

MS. ARSENEAU-MACKINNON:  It would all net together.  Yes.

MR. LADANYI:  Net -- okay, from OPG's point of view,  exactly.  So that's the existing methodology and -- or current methodology. Can you turn to chart 2, please?  So again, thank you for these very clear examples. So the chart uses the same numerical examples as the low-priced hour and the high-priced hours in the previous chart. Now for the low-priced hour, is the incentive to not produce the addition of values in columns I, J and K?

MS. ARSENEAU-MACKINNON:  I am sorry, could you please repeat, rephrase or repeat the question?

MR. LADANYI:  Yes, for the low-priced hour, which is in row A, is the incentive for OPG to not produce the addition of values for columns I, J, and K, which is negative 400, plus negative 25, plus positive 250, which is negative 175, by my calculation.  Is that right?

MS. ARSENEAU-MACKINNON:  Yes, that is correct.

MR. LADANYI:  And, by shifting to a high-priced hour, the incentive is now -- this is now in row B -- is 6,600, plus negative 200, plus negative 400, which is 6,000.  Is that right?

MS. ARSENEAU-MACKINNON:  Correct.

MR. LADANYI:  And the two rows can be essentially added against each other, so that you would have 6,000 from row B and minus 175 from row A. So from OPG's point of view, that would be -- that essentially would motivate you to move to a high-priced hour.

MS. ARSENEAU-MACKINNON:  Yes, that is the intention of the HIM.

MR. LADANYI:  When we compare chart 1 and chart 2, do your examples demonstrate that there is less of an incentive to shift production from a low-priced hour to a high-priced hour in the proposed method and in the current method?

MS. ARSENEAU-MACKINNON:  No, they do not.  So, we did take best efforts to provide as close to an apples-to-apples comparison between the two charts, but, as you can appreciate, there are a number of market factors that can drive the difference between a low-priced hour and a high-priced hour, and which assets are available to participate and which way to respond to those market signals.

And so I would not characterize these illustrative examples of demonstrating there being a reduction in OPG's incentive.

MR. LADANYI:  So the new proposed method, if you like, would that be a more accurate representation of how the market should function?  Is that what you are saying?  And that accounts for the differences between the two of them, that the current method does not actually accurately present what -- you know, how the market should function?  Or maybe is it the issue that the current method doesn't provide proper economic signals?

MS. ARSENEAU-MACKINNON:  The current method is structured for the market as it is designed today.  The proposed method accommodates the introduction of a day-ahead and a real-time market. So absent there being a change to the market construct itself, there wouldn't be a proposal to evaluate.  So we have proposed a HIM that provides a similar incentive to what OPG receives in the market today, but adjusted to align with how the market will function, post-market renewal.

MR. LADANYI:  From the point of view of ratepayers, are ratepayers better off with the proposed method than with the current method?  And I now remember, from ratepayers' point of view, we would have to look at everything:  how much does it cost to implement the new method, including IESO cost and also OPG's costs. I mean, for all I know, you could have -- you might need to hire 66 new employees to look after each station.  I don't really know how it is going to work, and it could be very expensive.

Could you tell us, will the new method actually save money for ratepayers or cost money for ratepayers?

MS. ARSENEAU-MACKINNON:  It would be impossible for me to predict all of the potential outcomes of how the new market will perform, but we will come back to OPG's position, that the HIM as designed and proposed in this application is appropriate to incent the correct behaviours in the new market.

MR. LADANYI:  These are all my questions.  Thank you, panel.

MR. RICHLER:  Thank you, Mr. Ladanyi. Up next is AMPCO.  Ms. Grice, are you ready to proceed?

MS. GRICE:  I am ready to proceed.  Thank you.

MR. RICHLER:  Thank you.
Examination by Ms. Grice:


MS. GRICE:  Good morning.  I will be asking questions on behalf of AMPCO, and my questions are focussed on the nuclear development variance account with respect to small modular reactors at Darlington, and the balance of my questions are related to the capacity refurbishment variance account related to regulated hydroelectric.

So I am going to start with the discussion on small nuclear -- or small modular reactors.  And just as a reference point, if we could just turn up H-1-1, page 39, chart 4, which is -- it just shows the costs that are being considered in this application.

Okay, that's it. Thank you, very much. So that chart is showing that the expenditures related to non-capital preliminary planning for SMRs is $13.1 million in 2020, $95.4 million in 2021 and $2.4 million in 2022, for a total of $110.9 million.  And, in response to CCC-08, part (b), CCC asked for OPG to provide detailed budgets for each of these four activities that were identified in this chart for 2020, 2021 and 2022.  And in the response to CCC-08, OPG provided attachment number 2, which was an approval for a funding envelope of $270 million for the small modular reactor work.

And if we can just turn up attachment 2 of CCC-08?  I just have a couple of questions on that.

Okay, so, the response also refers to appendix 4 of attachment 2, which is the project scope and breakdown for SMRs. So that's on page 9 of 10 of the attachment.

And I would just note that the total costs in this chart are 270 million for 2021 and -- 2020 and 2021, so 104 million in 2020 and 160 million in 2021.  And my question is:  Just at a high level, would OPG say that the activities -- this project and scope breakdown that's provided in this appendix 4, would OPG say that that work was undertaken, in reality, as part of the 110.9 million, would all of these activities have been done?

MR. KOGAN:  I would ask Mr. Tyndall to speak to that.

MR. TYNDALL:  So, Ms. Grice, at a high level, yes, the answer would be that the activities noted within this table that is on screen today, or right now, were undertaken in that, the 110 million that was in the H-1-1-1 referral.

MS. GRICE:  Okay, thank you.  And then this attachment, too, which was the OPG funding approval from the board of directors, there were several deliverables that were mentioned in this attachment.  Would OPG say that, at a lesser cost, it was able to deliver on those outcomes?

MR. TYNDALL:  Can we scroll to the area of the deliverables?

MS. GRICE:  Would you like me to give a reference, or -- oh, no.

MR. TYNDALL:  Yes, please, that -- well, if you could, that would be helpful.

MS. GRICE:  Okay.  You know what I was looking at, so -- just one moment here.  So page 2 of the attachment at the bottom, and, actually, if I may -- I'm sorry.  You know what, I think there is a better place to look it.  We could go to appendix 2 of the same document, and that is page 7 of the attachment.  It provides the illustrative roadmap for the project.

Okay, so what I'm looking at is -- my understanding of the funding approval is that, by November of 2021, OPG was going to have a project classified estimate and business case for SMRs.  Was that work completed?

MR. TYNDALL:  Ms. Grice, we were able to execute our process, as noted in our submissions, which required us to have cost estimates.  In terms of the specific cost estimate we had at that moment, I would have to confirm.  But what I will say is that we were able to undertake our process, which covered 11 different focus areas, using a variety of subject-matter experts and, in the project and cost areas, we were able to obtain information that was necessary to inform a recommendation of a technology.

MS. GRICE:  Okay, but I guess what I'm asking is:  Is there an actual business case document, with a class 5 estimate, that OPG produced by November 2021?  I believe that that deliverable was mentioned in the last rate case as something that was going to be done in the future.

MR. KEIZER:  Ms. Grice, from OPG's perspective, we don't believe that this is part of the inquiry that's before the Board.  I mean, what the -- the money that's being sought as part of the amount recorded in the account relates to the process by which the technology was selected.  It doesn't relate to activities related to SMR, including, you know, the creation of estimates or the operation of the project or anything else generally.  So, it's not meant to be an overall inquiry as to the current status and milestones of SMR.

If you are asking about the milestones associated with the process by which the technology was selected, then I think that question is relevant, but not with respect to SMRs generally.

MS. GRICE:  Okay.  I guess my thinking was:  You are asking customers to pay 110 million for preliminary development of SMRs, and, as part of that, one of the deliverables was a class 5 estimate by November 2021.  And I guess what I'm asking is:  Is OPG able to provide that as part of this proceeding?

MR. KEIZER:  No, what we're asking for is related to the process that went into selecting the design work, not with respect to the development of the class estimate.  Whatever would exist would exist, so that's outside the scope of what we're actually seeking with respect to the particular account.  So, no, we won't provide that class estimate.

MS. GRICE:  Okay, one last question on this.  I note on the same illustrative roadmap, when you get to twenty-twenty -- November of 2023, there's a release quality estimate class 3 in a business case, and I believe that the legend says that that's a public-facing milestone.  So I just wondered:  Has OPG completed that work, and would OPG be willing to provide that estimate and business case?

MR. KEIZER:  I think, for the same reason that we talked about before, to the extent that it's public facing and outside the record of the technical conference, I guess you could explore whether that exists, but, in the context here, what we're asking for, does it relate to the business cases or the consideration of those business cases.

MS. GRICE:  Okay, thank you.  I'll move on.  Okay, so my next questions are regarding the capacity refurbishment variance account.  So, if we can look at interrogatory SEC-01.


Okay, the first thing I wanted to look at is part (d), which is where OPG provided business-case summaries.  And if we can go to attachment 3, which is part 1 of the interrogatory responses, at the very bottom of the page, at number 8, it says that there was a delay with respect to windings delivery that had a schedule impact.  And it said:
"The EPC contractor experienced quality issues during the fabrication of the generator windings, which will result in an approximate nine-month delay to the in-service date.  Although the contractor mitigated schedule impact where possible, this will result in carrying cost to OPG.  Liquidated damages recovery will be negotiated but are not included in this estimate due to remaining scheduling uncertainty."

So I just had a couple of questions regarding that issue.  I'm wondering if the OPG could provide additional information.  Would you be able to provide the cost of this issue and what the actual delay was?

MR. TYNDALL:  I'd ask Mr. Seguin to speak to whether we have that information.

MR. SEGUIN:  Yes, Ms. Grice, I don't have the information at hand on the breakdown of the cost related specifically to the winding issue for generator [audio dropout]


MS. ING:  Sorry, you are cutting out now, please.  I'm sorry.

MR. SEGUIN:  Ms. Grice, I don't have with me right now the cost breakdown specific to the winding issue that you've identified in this VCS.

MS. GRICE:  Okay, well, would you be able to provide an undertaking to provide that cost, what the schedule delay was, and if OPG was successful in any liquidated damage recovery related to that issue?

MR. KEIZER:  That is fine.

MR. RICHLER:  Okay.  Let's just note that as undertaking JT1.2.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.2: WITH REFERENCE TO SEC-02(D) ATTACHMENT 3, NO. 8, TO PROVIDE A COST BREAKDOWN SPECIFIC TO THE WINDING ISSUE, INCLUDING SCHEDULE DELAY, AND WHETHER OPG WAS SUCCESSFUL IN ANY LIQUIDATED DAMAGE RECOVERY.


MS. GRICE:  Okay, thank you.  And then, if we can now look at the business case summaries, I'm looking at attachment number 6, which is a project over variance approval report related to the Manitou Falls project.  And I'm just looking under the recommendations, the last, second-last paragraph there.  It says, "and what this project over variance approval was asking for more funds," and you can just see the amounts.  They are asking for a new release to 26.498 million from 24 million, and it says:
This release is for additional funding for discovery work not anticipated, contract change orders to address additional scope, items not
included in the base contract, scheduled delays due to COVID-19 and contractor schedule performance.  OPG expects to recoup a proportion of the contract cost for liquidated damages due to poor contractor performance schedule."


So, similar to the previous questions, would OPG be able to provide whether or not they were successful in achieving liquidated damages due to poor contractor scheduled performance, and confirm that that has been considered in the cost that OPG is taking to recover?

MR. SEGUIN:  Yes, we can seek to provide what's available.

MR. RICHLER:  That will be undertaking JT1.3.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.3:  WITH REFERENCE TO ATTACHMENT 6, TO ADVISE WHETHER OR NOT THEY WERE SUCCESSFUL IN ACHIEVING LIQUIDATED DAMAGES DUE TO POOR CONTRACTOR SCHEDULED PERFORMANCE, AND CONFIRM THAT IT HAS BEEN CONSIDERED IN THE COST THAT OPG IS TAKING TO RECOVER

MS. GRICE:  Okay, thank you.  And then just something else that's noted in this project over variance approval report and that has to do with scheduling delays due to COVID-19.  And if we can turn to CCC Interrogatory No. 3, and there is a chart on page 2 that details the cost variance for that project.

And under the execution schedule it refers to COVID-19 costs with respect to the execution schedule for the contractor.  It refers to COVID-19 cost then, and then there is an actual COVID-19 impact line.  And then I note that in other projects over variance approval documents and we don't need to turn them up, but I will just list them, which is attachment number 9, attachment number 13, and attachment number 15.  Those documents also referenced COVID-19 impacts.

So, my question is:  Would OPG be able to provide, with respect to the entries in the capacity refurbishment variance account, the total COVID cost by year for these projects, broken out into capital and non-capital, just so we have an idea what the total COVID costs were?

MR. KOGAN:  Just reflecting on your question, Ms. Grice, I'm not sure whether we have that information and that level of detail around all the impacts.  It is possible that some information is available, but as I just reflect from a general standpoint, that a number of these business cases or variance forms probably cite combinations of factors and whether each one has been individually isolated and is available in that manner, I don't know.

MS. GRICE:  Okay, I understand.  Could we do it on a best-efforts basis?

MR. KOGAN:  We can undertake to see what helpful information we can provide in this regard, for the hydroelectric CRB project.

MS. GRICE:  Okay, thank you.

MR. RICHLER:  Undertaking JT1.4.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.4:  ON A BEST-EFFORTS BASIS, WITH RESPECT TO THE ENTRIES IN THE CAPACITY REFURBISHMENT VARIANCE ACCOUNT, TO ADVISE THE TOTAL COVID COST BY YEAR FOR THESE PROJECTS, BROKEN OUT INTO CAPITAL AND NON-CAPITAL; TO PROVIDE A BEST-EFFORTS DISCUSSION OF THE SCHEDULE DELAY IMPACT ON INTEREST COSTS AS PART OF THE PROJECTS THAT ARE LAID OUT IN THIS EVIDENCE, AS WELL AS WHERE THERE IS REFERENCE TO ADDITIONAL OPG MANAGEMENT COSTS IN THE CONTEXT OF THOSE SCHEDULED DELAYS.

MS. GRICE:  Okay.  And the last area that I want to ask questions on, again, back to SEC-01, and I'm looking at chart 4 on page 5 which is with respect to project performance reviews.

Okay, I'm looking at -- the first one I want to look at is attachment number 19 which, I believe, is part 5 of the interrogatory responses, if that's helpful.  Okay.

There is a question there and it says, "Is PIR required?"  Which I believe is referring to a post implementation review.  And the answer is yes.  And I just wanted to ask:  Does one exist for this project?

MR. KOGAN:  To the extent that a PIR would have been completed for this project, it would have been provided in response to the interrogatory you are referencing, given the scope of that question.

MS. GRICE:  Okay.  So, then it doesn't exist?  Is that -- is that my understanding?

MR. KOGAN:  It's my understanding, based on the response to the interrogatory, that would have been given at the time the interrogatory was prepared and filed.

MS. GRICE:  Okay, thank you.  And just a general question:  What triggers the requirement for a post implementation review, just when we're looking at all of these documents that you've provided, what would trigger that?

MR. KOGAN:  I would need to go back and just check how our governance and the specifics.  I haven't looked at that area, in a while, Ms. Grice.  If it is something that we could do at the break, perhaps I can get back to you after that.  Would that be all right?

MS. GRICE:  That would be fine.  Thank you.

Okay.  The next one I want to look at is Manitou Falls, which with respect to this project it says:

"The project close out is in progress and that there is no progress close-out report."

Can you just speak to when that would be available?

MR. KEIZER:  Sorry, maybe I'm just a bit lost.  Is that what's on the screen now or is that a different reference, Ms. Grice?

MS. GRICE:  Right, I'm back in SEC-01, chart 4.  My apologies.

MR. KEIZER:  No, that's fine.  Thank you very much.

MS. GRICE:  So, I'm looking at Manitou Falls with a total project cost of 25.3 million and I believe the in-service date for that project was September 2021.  And it says that there is no -- the project close out is in progress.

So, I just wondered when that will be completed, given that the project was in service in 2021 and if it is something that we can get in time for the, like, as part of this proceeding.


MR. KOGAN:  If I may have a minute, please.  This is for Manitou Falls, auto sluice system; is that correct?

MS. GRICE:  Correct.

MR. KEIZER:  Maybe it's something we can check at the break to see if we do have it or not, Ms. Grice, and we can deal with it from there?

MS. GRICE:  Okay, that's good.  Thank you.

So, just going down the list the next project is the next one which is Sir Adam Beck, 1GS-unit G5 major overhaul,  total project cost 44.7 million.  And my understanding is that project was in-service as well in September 2021.  And it's --

MS. ING:  Sorry, it's Lillian.  I believe they are in the breakout room.

MR. KEIZER:  I think we lost the witnesses there.

MS. GRICE:  Oh, I'm sorry.

MR. KEIZER:  It's okay.  You were on a good run but...

MR. SEGUIN:  Ms. Grice, in terms of the Manitou Falls auto sluice project and the project closeout, if it is okay with you, if I could get you some more information when we come back after the break, the timing of when we expect that project to closeout.

MS. GRICE:  That would be great.  Thank you.  I will just move on to the next one, which is similar in nature.

So it's the Sir Adam Beck GS, unit G5, major overall project with a total cost of $44.7 million.  And I believe the in-service date for that project was September 2021 as well.

And it says that the project close-out report and the post-implementation review are in progress.

So I have the same question:  When will those be completed and is it possible that we can get some information, or those completed reports, as part of this proceeding?

MR. SEGUIN:  Ms. Grice, I will also bring that back after the break, in terms of the timing for the Sir Adam Beck G5 overall project closeout and reports.

MS. GRICE:  Okay.  Thank you.  I am sorry, I am probably going to add more to that list with my next couple of questions.  I am looking at Sir Adam Beck GS, units G1, G2 replacement, and that's attachment 21.  The total cost there is $122.8 million.

If we can look up attachment 1 (sic), and that's in part 5, as well.

So I believe it is the same question, where it asks if a post-implementation review is required.  And it says yes.

MR. KIRK:  Ms. Grice, you may have meant attachment 21, perhaps?

MS. GRICE:  Attachment 21.  Sorry, did I say something else?

MR. KEIZER:  I think you said attachment 1.

MS. GRICE:  There we go.

MR. KEIZER:  It is okay.  We are there.

MS. GRICE:  Okay.  So it says "Is PIR required?"  And it says yes.


So I just have the same question:  If it's required, is there one?  Or is it that it would have been provided if it existed, and that's why we don't have it?  It is the same question as we had earlier.

MR. KOGAN:  It would have been provided, had it existed in response to the interrogatories.

MS. GRICE:  Okay.  Thank you.  And then attachment 22 is for the same project, and it's an internal audit report. And I don't have any questions on the audit.  I just wanted to ask, what would trigger an internal audit on a project?

MR. SEGUIN:  Ms. Grice, for internal audit organization, they will assess a number of areas across the business in terms of risk and timing.  And so they will look at areas based on that assessment, using risk and timing to identify areas that are selected for audit at a given time.

That audit plan is prepared, usually for a year, and then executed.

MS. GRICE:  Okay.  So would there have been something about that project that drew attention to the need for an audit?  Or is it just like a random selection?

MR. SEGUIN:  Ms. Grice, they would have been selected based on the risk and the timing of their audit activities.  So using your terms, it would have been more random than for any specific reason associated with the project.

MS. GRICE:  Okay.  Thank you.  Then just the next project I want to look at, back to SEC-01, chart 4.

And I am looking at Ranney Falls GS, G3, total project cost, $74.5 million.  And if we can look at attachment 23, please?  No, sorry, sorry -- attachment 24, which is the project close-out report.

So I just want to confirm it is the same answer, that it says that a PIR is required, but it wasn't filed as part of this interrogatory response.  So that would mean it does not exist.  Correct?

MR. SEGUIN:  Correct.  I am relying again on the response to the interrogatory.

MS. GRICE:  Okay, I am just going to quickly check over my notes.

I just have one last general question:  With respect to all these projects, there weren't a lot, but there were a few that had schedule delays and then more OPG project management costs.

Is that information tracked?  Would we be able to get a total, in terms of what the additional interest paid on the project was because of schedule delays and what the additional OPG project management costs were, by year?  Is that something that OPG could provide?

MR. KOGAN:  My feeling, Ms. Grice, is that may be more difficult than your COVID question --


MS. GRICE:  Okay.

MR. KOGAN:  -- given the breadth.

MS. GRICE:  Okay.  Could I just ask if there is any way you could comment on that in your COVID response, just add that in if there is anything you can provide with respect to interest costs due to schedule delays and additional project management related to all of those, the hydroelectric projects that are going through the CRVA?

That would be helpful -- just best efforts.

MR. KOGAN:  So just to play that back, you are looking for a best-efforts discussion of the schedule delay impact on interest costs as part of the projects that are laid out in this evidence, as well as where there is reference to additional OPG management costs in the context of those scheduled delays?

MS. GRICE:  Yes.  Yes, that's it.

MR. KOGAN:  We will look at that on a best-efforts basis.  Yes.

MS. GRICE:  Okay.  Okay, thank you, very much.  Those are my questions.

MR. RICHLER:  Okay, thank you, Ms. Grice.  And if I understood correctly, that last bit will just be rolled into the previous undertaking, JT1.4.

It's time for our morning break.  Let's resume at 11:15 --

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Sorry, Ian.  Ian?

MR. RICHLER:  Yes.

MR. KEIZER:  I was wondering if I could just ask one follow-up question, since I know OPG is -- there are a number of questions they are going to think about over the break, and there is just one question in that vein I would like to ask, following up, if that's all right?

MR. RICHLER:  Go ahead.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  In a number of places, Ms. Grice took you to where it said a PIR is required.  And obviously it was not filed.  And Mr. Kogan, your response was to the effect of, if it existed, we would have provided it.

So I guess my question is for ones where you haven't provided it, it would be helpful -- and where a document is indicated one is required, it would be helpful to understand, is it that one is going to be produced, just is not produced at this time?  Or there is some other reason why it says that it's required but, for some other reason, it's not being produced or it's not actually required, or something to that effect?

MR. KOGAN:  We will comment on that.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Thanks.

MR. RICHLER:  So let's --


MS. GRICE:  Sorry.  Sorry, what did you say, Mr. Kogan?  "We will comment on that"?

MR. KOGAN:  I said we will comment on that.

MS. GRICE:  Okay.  Thank you.

MR. RICHLER:  Okay.  Let's take a break until 11:20.  There are a few things that OPG is going to look at.  Of course, if we don't have time to get answers, you will let us know, and maybe you could spend part of the lunch hour doing that.

But we will be back at 11:20.  Thanks.
--- Recess taken at 11:00 a.m.

--- On resuming at 11:20 a.m.


MR. RICHLER:  Let's go back on the record now.  Welcome back, everyone.  Before I hand it over to Mr. Rubenstein, let me just ask OPG.  There were a couple of things you said you would try to look into over the break.  Do you have anything you'd like to report back now?

MR. KEIZER:  Sorry.  We are all just getting into the room here.  Just one moment, please.  I don't think we are quite ready yet, Mr. Richler.

MR. RICHLER:  You mean are you still waiting for some of your witnesses?  Okay.

MR. KEIZER:  Yes, yes, they're just coming in.

MR. RICHLER:  My apologies.  Let's pause for a moment.

MR. KEIZER:  I think we have everybody now.

MR. RICHLER:  All right.  So I was just saying, before I hand it over to Mr. Rubenstein, I will just ask OPG:  There were a couple of things that you said you were going to try to look into over the break.  Is there anything that you'd like to report back now?

MR. KOGAN:  Yes.  In terms of the general question around what triggers a PIR requirement, that is something that we'll continue to look at to report on more comprehensively, so we can take a formal undertaking for that, if that's helpful.

MR. RICHLER:  Okay, let's call that JT1.5.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.5: TO PROVIDE COMMENT ON INSTANCES WHERE A PIR WAS REQUIRED.

MR. KOGAN:  And then I will ask Mr. Seguin to speak to some of the other questions that we took over the break.

MR. SEGUIN:  Yes, there was one question around PIRs related to projects that were identified in the PCR as being required.  I can confirm that they are not provided if they are not complete, but the ones that are required are in progress.

Around the timing, which was another part of the request, there is one project that is [audio dropout] project where we do anticipate the PIR being completed shortly in this application date, and the rest are beyond the end, later this year.

MR. RICHLER:  Thank you.  Anything further from OPG?  Ms. Grice, did you haves any quick follow-ups?  All right.  Next up on the list is Mr. Rubenstein from SEC.  Over to you.
Examination by Mr. Rubenstein:


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Let me ask the question I think Ms. Grice would have asked about the one that you are mentioning that is available, will be available, during this application.  I guess my question is:  Would it be available for the settlement conference?  When you have used the term "within the application period", you're talking obviously a greater period of time than...

MR. SEGUIN:  Well, I believe that it will available ahead of the settlement conference.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Can you file that?

MR. SEGUIN:  If it becomes available, we will file that.

MR. KEIZER:  And we can confirm, if it's not available, confirm the dates of it in the undertaking if we know, if they're known.

MR. RICHLER:  So should we give this a new undertaking number?  JT1.6.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.6: TO FILE THE REFERENCED DOCUMENT, IF IT BECOMES AVAILABLE; IF NOT AVAILABLE, TO CONFIRM THE DATES IN IT, IF KNOWN.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Thank you very much.  I have a number of questions on a number of different interrogatories and evidence with respect to the various variance accounts, so I think the best way is we'll just go through them by variance account.  That would probably be the easiest.

And the first I want to start off with is the nuclear development variance account, and maybe the best place to pull this up -- my first question is H-5.  If we can scroll down to chart 1, in this response, you provide a breakdown of the costs you're seeking recovery for.  Do I have that correct?

MR. KIRK:  Yes, that is correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And, just if I look at the pattern of spending, we have -- of when the costs were incurred, there was roughly $13 million in 2020, and then it jumps significantly 2021 to 95.4 and then a precipitous drop to $2.4 million in 2022.  Do I take it that what the pattern of spending here is reflective that, by some point in 2022, the costs incurred were then eligible for capitalization to the eventual SMR facility?

MR. KOGAN:  Can you restate that, Mr. Rubenstein?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Do I take it that essentially the very significant drop in spending in 2022 to reflect the fact that, at some point in that year, the costs became eligible for capitalization through the eventual SMR project and thus were no longer booked in the nuclear development variance?

MR. KOGAN:  Yes, it is correct that the capital project was initiated beginning in 2022 for the Darlington SMR, following the decision to proceed with the project, following the technology selection process that is discussed in this application.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay, and so any further costs ultimately will be reviewed in the context of the SMR project that you actually seek recovery for?

MR. KOGAN:  That is my expectation.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay.  If we take a look at the table, there are three rows in three of the description categories where you have "internal OPG."  Do you see that?  And I take it, subject to check, it is about $22.3 million that I see as internal OPG costs.

MR. KOGAN:  I'll take that subject to check.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Are you able to tell me, obviously by way of undertaking, how much of those costs internal OPG costs relate to internal labour costs as opposed to other internal costs that may be captured?

MR. KOGAN:  I'll look to Mr. Tyndall if he has anything readily available on this point.

MR. TYNDALL:  I don't have anything readily available, Mr. Kogan and Mr. Rubenstein, directly related to how much of it is labour versus other internal costs.  I would say that the majority of the internal OPG cost is labour-related.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Sure.  Are you able to provide a more specific number than just "majority"?

MR. KOGAN:  Yes, we can look for that.

MR. RICHLER:  That will be JT1.7.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.7: TO CONFIRM HOW MUCH OF INTERNAL OPG COSTS RELATE TO INTERNAL LABOUR COSTS.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And Mr. Kogan will be familiar with this.  In my recollection of EB-2020-0290, OPG filed a study from Willis Towers Watson, looking at compensation costs.  You were aware generally of that, or someone else on the panel is aware of that?

MR. KOGAN:  Yes, I'm aware of that.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And my recollection of the study -- and it's available on the record in that proceeding, at F41, attachment 2, page 7 -- is that it showed OPG's total on a total remuneration basis.  OPG was 7.7 percent above the peer group, and, when you include the share grants -- and this is from F-4-SEC-149 in that proceeding -- it showed that OPG was overall 9 percent above on a total remuneration basis, the P50.  Do you take that subject to check?

MR. KOGAN:  I have a general recollection of the kinds of analysis that you are talking about and that several of them did show us above the P50 percentile.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  I am going to ask you by way of undertaking if you could tell us the difference between the P50 in that study and the actual internal labour costs that were included in the -- that you are seeking for recovery in this variance account.  What is that difference?

MR. KOGAN:  I am pausing.  I am trying to remember, Mr. Rubenstein, how we approached potentially some of this similar discussion around --

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, I can give you an interrogatory response, a reference from that proceeding where, you know, you have done some analysis in the context of that proceeding, which would be JTX4.18.

MR. KEIZER:  Sorry, it is a confidential undertaking, I think, because it is --

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yes, I think there is a non-confidential aspect for it, obviously.  And if there is a confidential which I don't have anymore, the company has.

MR. KEIZER:  It is unclear me to me though, that aspect are you actually trying to explore.  It is not clear to me.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Sure.  I'm asking for the difference between the P50 in that study on compensation costs, as compared to the actual costs incurred for internal OPG labour that you're seeking recovery for in this account?  There's a delta.

MR. KOGAN:  I understand the thrust of the question, Mr. Rubenstein.  I am reflecting around vintage of information in terms of what year that study was done versus, for example, the fact that we're talking 2021.

So, I am -- I think we can take a look and provide an analysis that will be responsive in terms of estimates, on a best-efforts basis, around the kinds of labour costs that are reflected here and what you are seeking in terms of anchoring to the previous studies.

We will include caveats as necessary in that regard but I do understand the thrust of your request.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay.  Thank you very much.  And I ask then when you provide that response with whatever calculations or assumptions you are making that you can detail them so those numbers can be reviewed.

MR. KOGAN:  Understood.

MR. RICHLER:  That's JT1.8.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.8:  TO ADVISE THE DIFFERENCE BETWEEN THE P50 IN THE STUDY ON COMPENSATION COSTS, COMPARED TO THE ACTUAL INTERNAL OPG LABOUR COSTS THAT ARE SOUGHT FOR RECOVERY IN THIS VARIANCE ACCOUNT, ON A BEST-EFFORTS BASIS; TO INCLUDE CALCULATIONS OR ASSUMPTIONS USED.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Can I now ask you to turn to CCC 8, H-CCC-08.  So, in part (b) you were asked CCC to provide detailed budgets for each of the four activities identified in chart 4 for '20, '21 and '22 and in your response you discuss how OPG managed costs to the envelope of the 270 million approved by -- approved by the board, being your board, and as set out in Appendix 4, and Appendix 4 you point us to which provides a breakdown of that.  And in the last sentence you say:
"The OPG board of directors approval required that actual expenditures were substantially consistent with Appendix 4,which they were."

Do you see that?

MR. KOGAN: Yes, I see that.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Now, the total costs that you're seeking of about 110 million and the total budget is 207 million.  Correct?

MR. KOGAN:  Will you just restate the numbers again.  I apologize.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  You are seeking to recover, let me make sure I have my numbers here, about $110 million in this account?

MR. KOGAN:  I should just clarify that $110 million that we reviewed in the previous interrogatories refers to the actual costs incurred for these activities for '20 to '22.

There is a reference plan amount in relation to the nuclear non-capital planning costs in the payment amounts plus there is a small amount of about 700,000, if I recall correctly from 2018, '19 that wasn't cleared.

So, when you put it all together, I think it works out to maybe closer to 105 million that we're actually seeking.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I think you're right -- no, no, sorry.  Let me rephrase that.  My question was sloppy there.

The actual costs which are part of the calculation of the recovery is about $110 million, correct?

MR. KOGAN:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And the total budget envelope that your board approved was 270 million, correct?

MR. KOGAN:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And I take it, because of that very significant delta between that, that that 270 includes a host of other activities that are not part of the actual -- of the $110 million that you've actually incurred?

MR. KOGAN:  I'll ask Mr. Tyndall to comment on the difference.

MR. TYNDALL:  So, Mr. Rubenstein, the -- as stated in our interrogatory response, they are substantially consistent, and so when we scoped the $270 million envelope those were on a worst case type element or a budgetary estimate of what the scope, we believed needed to be conducted.

Upon working with the internal team and understanding what information the developers had available we were able to refine the scope to obtain the necessary information to satisfy the process that was -- that was submitted as part of this filing.

MR. KOGAN:  Mr. Rubenstein, I would furthermore say that the activities were substantially consistent with what that were actually conducted with what the funding was provided for.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So, just so I'm clear here, when you say that expenditures were substantially consistent with Appendix 4, which they were, that's not correct, in a positive way that really it's $160 million less.  Is that what you're saying?

MR. KOGAN:  Yes, upon reviewing the response the intent of this statement that you are referring to that states that the expenditures were substantially consistent with Appendix 4, the intention was to say that they were substantially within amounts in Appendix 4, not consistent with -- as that is the intent with which the approval referenced in attachment 2 from our board of directors was intended.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And so the outcome is compared to the board of directors' approval budget, you came in $160 million less?

MR. KOGAN:  That is correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay.  Thank you.  Can we now -- I have a question about the nuclear capacity refurbishment variance account.  And if we can go to H-1-1-1, table 15.

And as I understand this, I calculated -- if you can go down the table.  Summing up line 29 here, row 29, there is about $94 million in non-capital, non-DRP costs that have been debited to that account.

MR. KOGAN:  I agree there is a bit over $90 million that has been recorded as a debit in this account for non-DRP costs for the period 2020, to 2022.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  That is not just non-DRP, it is non-capital, correct, too?  Operating costs, actually.

MR. KOGAN:  Yes, I agree this is non-capital.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Can I ask, and we'll do it by way of another undertaking, if you could let us know how much of those costs are internal OPG labour, and then the second part of that undertaking I'm going to ask for is, essentially, the exact same thing I asked you with respect to the nuclear development variance account.

What is the difference between the P50 in the study that Ken -- compensation study that you provided in the 290 proceeding and those internal labour costs?

MR. KOGAN:  I think I would give the same response as provided with the same caveats to that previous undertaking with respect to the nuclear development variance account.

And furthermore, I assume that this request is for the components of this table we're talking about that we're actually seeking to clear in this application?

MR. RICHLER:  Mr. Rubenstein, is that what you're -- is that acceptable?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Can you just hold one second.  Well, so the answer is yes, with one exception.  So you're -- as I understand, there's about -- and it is not broken down exactly perfectly.  So, how about you provide in -- sorry, let me back up.

With respect to your caveats and what you can do, I accept that with respect to the second about what you're seeking to clear, I'd like to see the answer.  And then if there is some component of that that you are not seeking to clear, you will itemize that.  It is not clear to me exactly which portion of the -- I believe there is about $2 million that are not being seeking to be cleared that falls under non-DRP amounts.  And I don't know if that is non-capital or capital.

MR. KOGAN:  So, for clarity, if it is helpful, Mr. Rubenstein, we are not seeking to clear line 26, which is optimization of Pickering shutdown.  And we are not seeking to clear line 24, which is the Pickering refurbishment feasibility assessment.  This is intended to map directly to the amounts that we are not seeking to clear with respect to non-capital.  And so we have not provided any information on those balances in this application, as a result.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Sure, that's fine.

MR. RICHLER:  Thank you, 1.9.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.9:  WITH REFERENCE TO H-1-1-1, TABLE 15, THE NUCLEAR CAPACITY REFURBISHMENT VARIANCE ACCOUNT, TO CONFIRM HOW MUCH OF THE COSTS ARE INTERNAL OPG LABOUR; TO CONFIRM THE DIFFERENCE BETWEEN THE P50 IN THE COMPENSATION STUDY PROVIDED IN THE 290 PROCEEDING AND THOSE INTERNAL LABOUR COSTS.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  May I now ask now about the hydroelectric capacity refurbishment account?  And as I understand, you are seeking to recover about 56-and-a-half-million dollars; does that sound about right?

MR. KOGAN:  I will ask Ms. Viswanathan to confirm.

MS. VISWANATHAN:  That is correct, Mr. Rubenstein.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And as I understand this account, at least how I look at it, it is made up of three components, and I just want to say it out loud to you, and you can tell me if I am right or wrong.

So the first part is revenue requirement related to pre-June 2017 additions above the implicit funding amounts that were included in rate that were previously approved in the last DBA proceedings.  That is part 1.

Part 2 then is post-June 2017 non-capital costs, so essentially O&M costs, that would meet the requirements obviously of that account.

And then third is the revenue requirement related to post-June 2017 capital additions that are eligible for this account that are above the implicit funding amount of rates.  Do I have that correct?

MS. VISWANATHAN:  I would mostly agree with that, Mr. Rubenstein, except for the first component.  The revenue requirement impact that we are seeking to clear is not subject to the recoverability threshold that those in-service additions that took place from June 1, 2017 to December 31, 2021 are subject to.  The revenue requirement impact calculated on the first part that you mentioned is compared against reference plan amounts that were part of the OEB-approved EB-2013-0321 proceeding, which was based on forecast 2014 and forecast 2015 amounts.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Thank you, very much.  That is a helpful clarification.

But essentially, that is the capital amounts that were -- for projects that are essentially discussed or approved in the last DBA proceeding as compared to the ones that we are talking about here, or that Ms. Grice took you through that are the post-June 1st ones?

MS. VISWANATHAN:  That is correct.  They are primarily for -- they are for in-service additions for pre-June 1, 2017 projects that were placed into service before that time, in June --


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Now, as I understand --


MS. VISWANATHAN:  -- that were placed into service before June 1, 2017.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Now, with respect to the non-capital costs, as I understand there's $22.5 million you are seeking with respect to non-capital costs?  And just so you understand where I am looking at, I am looking at H-1-1-1, table 7.

MR. KOGAN:  That is correct, that we are seeking $22.5 million in non-capital costs, net of the appropriate reference amounts that are recorded in this account in this period.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay.  I am going to ask you the same two questions that I asked with respect to the other two accounts, and that is first to tell us how much of that is internal labour, is OPG labour costs.

And the second is a comparison between the P50 in the compensation study set out in the 290 proceeding and the internal labour cost that you are seeking recovery for in this proceeding.

MR. KOGAN:  With respect, for clarity, this is with respect to the non-capital costs you are asking, right now?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yes.

MR. KOGAN:  This will get, I would say more complicated because this goes back several years.  So this may require more caveats and assumptions I would say, relatively speaking, to -- in the previous undertakings.  But I understand the thrust of what you are asking.

MR. RICHLER:  We will call that JT1.10.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.10:  WITH REFERENCE TO H-1-1-1, TABLE 7, NON-CAPITAL COSTS, TO CONFIRM HOW MUCH IS OPG LABOUR COSTS; TO COMPARE BETWEEN THE P50 IN THE COMPENSATION STUDY IN THE 290 PROCEEDING, AND THE INTERNAL LABOUR COST FOR WHICH RECOVERY IS SOUGHT IN THIS PROCEEDING.


MR. KEIZER:  And just to be clear, though, because it is going back a considerable amount time, the reference to that, you know, P50 may not be applicable at all.  So to the extent that it is not applicable, OPG would indicate that in the undertaking response.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Sure.  And if you want to go back, because it is pre-2019 -- I forget the dates of the site meeting; maybe that was 2018, when the data was taken for the compensation.  I believe there was a further -- there was a compensation study filed in the 0152 proceeding, which you could draw from. Can I ask:  As I understand with respect to this account, there is roughly $23 million that you are deferring to, for a future application?  Do I have that right?

MR. KOGAN:  Could you point us to the reference, please?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I am looking at H1-2-1, table 1 -- I'm sorry, is that what I am looking at?  Give me a second here. That's H-1-2-1, table 1.  If you look at column D, row 6, there is $23.8 million of the year-end 2022 balance that is being deferred to a future application.  What is that in relation to?

MR. KOGAN:  That pertains to amounts recorded in the account in 2022.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  That is because you are only seeking recovery of projects to the end of 2021?

MR. KOGAN:  It is because we are seeking recovery for amounts recorded in connection with the period up to 2021 for this particular account, given that the methodology for assessing the recoverability relative to the funding amounts within the payment amounts for this particular account is applied on a full IRM term basis.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  Thank you, very much. If we can to go SEC-01.  In part (e), we asked you if:

"Have any of the projects increased hydroelectric generation capacity?  If so, please provide details of the actual increase."

Go to the response.  You have provided four projects where there has been an increase in capacity; do I have that right?

MR. KOGAN:  I will refer this to Mr. Seguin.

MR. SEGUIN:  Yes, Mr. Rubenstein.  The four projects are identified in chart 5.  Yes, Mr. Rubenstein, it is four, as you have indicated in the chart 5.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Are you able to provide the total numbers of incremental megawatt-hours and the total revenue collected to the end -- each year, to the end of 2021, as a result of this increase in capacity?

MR. KOGAN:  I want to make sure that we understand the question.  To play it back, you are asking how much incremental generation from these facilities was produced, I assume, from the period of time when these upgrades became operational through to the end of 2021?  Do I understand that correctly?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yes.

MR. KOGAN:  Relative to the absence of those upgrades, recognizing that the payment amounts that underpin the IRM payment amounts would have been set a number of years ago, based on some forecasts at that original time.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, the payment amounts were set based on a whole host of forecast costs and stuff, but you have increased capacity to a generating station.  Once it operational, it is now generating, OPG is now receiving incremental revenue, and I'd like to know:  What is the, on a megawatt-hour basis and on a dollar basis, is being collected as a result of that.

MR. KOGAN:  And I'm just confirming that the incrementality that you are referencing to is relative to without said upgrades as opposed to whatever the payment amounts originally --


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yes, yes.

MR. KOGAN:  -- were set.  I'll look to Mr. Seguin in terms of the feasibility of, or Ms. Arseneau-MacKinnon, in terms of the feasibility of providing any such estimate.

MS. ARSENEAU-MACKINNON:  Could we confer briefly?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yes, and just before you do that, I'm going to ask a similar undertaking with respect to projects that are, were, in service between -- projects that were captured by the CRVA account previously to 2021, which would be part of that first category of costs that I talked about with respect to this.

MR. KOGAN:  That second category would be for what period, Mr. Rubenstein?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  It would be probably, essentially, the projects that were cleared with respect to from 2013 to 2017.

MR. KOGAN:  I understand the projects.  Just confirming the period of generation would be from --


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Each year between the -- when it went in service to the end of 2021.

MR. KOGAN:  If you could, put us in a breakout room.

[Witness panel confers in breakout room.]


MR. SEGUIN:  Mr. Rubenstein, in reference to your request to provide the actual energy production relative to the projects where we have had increased capacity, that calculation, we're unable to perform that calculation and provide that.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Sorry, did you say you were or you were not?

MR. SEGUIN:  We are not able to.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Why not?

MR. SEGUIN:  There are market and water conditions on top of the time element that need to be considered, and we would not necessarily have historical modelling to be able to provide that.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So if you were -- the Board asked, if someone asked you, "How much revenue or how many hours does this actually produce," you couldn't tell them?

MR. SEGUIN:  We could provide estimates, but the amount of uncertainty would be variable from project to project.

MR. KEIZER:  I think what he's kind of -- from what I understand, what the witness is saying is that, because there are so many other moving pieces, whether it's the water, whether it's another partial outage or other outages that may be happening or other circumstances in the market, whatever, it can all check the...

I think what your question is going to, Mr. Rubenstein, is:  Okay, you've increased the capacity; how much energy did you come from that capacity?

And I think what the witness is saying is that there is a myriad of factors which affects generation, which you may not be able to isolate it to the particular incremental capacity that you've identified in this interrogatory.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  No, fair enough.  I understand that there would have to be some assumptions made, you know, if you don't know for example, it may not be -- you don't know exactly which generator is generating X within a facility.  But are you able to do, on a best-efforts basis, an estimate, understanding that you'll have to make some assumptions and caveats?

MR. KOGAN:  I think, Mr. Rubenstein, we stand by our answer, that, where we are able to do reasonable estimates and we feel comfortable, we give those undertakings.  In this case, the amount of uncertainty, as Mr. Seguin has indicated, is quite significant.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But you would agree with me you have increased capacity, and that increased capacity, as compared with the project was not completed, resulted in increased generation and increased revenue.  Correct?

MR. KOGAN:  I know a little to be dangerous, but we'll say that capacity doesn't always translate into generation.  There is a myriad of technical and market factors at play, so I wouldn't make a sweeping generalization like that, necessarily.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, I understand you can't tell me the exact number, and I recognize caveats in even the comments you made.  But you would agree with me that there's going to be some incremental capacity that you can say involved some incremental generation, which will involve some incremental revenue?

MR. KEIZER:  But I think what the witness is saying is that "some" may be meaningless because you may have caveated away to the point that it may not necessarily be truly indicative of what actually did happen, because there are factors you just cannot, you know, necessarily discern.

So what you're getting -- you know, the concern I think the witness is expressing is that, you know, by -- if it -- it's not a reasonable estimate to make because it may result in a number which is completely meaningless and can't necessarily be relied on.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  No, and I understand about the number part, but now let's just talk the directional question.  I understand there is a question of what that number is, what the magnitude of that number is.  It is a different question, which your witnesses have explained.

But, on a directional basis, can we -- would OPG agree that the incremental capacity has resulted in some amount of incremental generation, which resulted in some amount of incremental revenue?

MR. KOGAN:  I would assume that the answer is, yes, collectively these projects, the increase in capacity generated by these projects, should have produced some incremental amount of generation revenue.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay, but, and I take it then from the other comments is, you are not prepared to estimate that amount?

MR. KOGAN:  For the reasons I've stated we are not able to provide a reliable estimate.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Now, with respect to the project 320, June 1, 2017, that you are still seeking to recover the revenue requirement in the CRV, are you able to provide a similar table to the one in chart 5 here?

MR. KOGAN:  I'll let Ms. Viswanathan speak to that.

MS. VISWANATHAN:  So, Mr. Rubenstein, to the best of my knowledge for those projects that we are seeking recovery through the CRV for, pre-June 1, 2017, I don't believe any of them necessarily increased operating capacity, as the projects outlined in chart 5 has.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well can I ask you this, to take an undertaking to verify that?

MR. KOGAN:  Yes we will.

MR. RICHLER:  That will be JT1.11.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.11:  TO CONFIRM WHETHER PROJECTS OPG SEEKS RECOVERY FOR THROUGH THE CRV FOR PRE-JUNE 1, 2017, INCREASED OPERATING CAPACITY.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And can I ask For chart 5, if you can, and this would also be if the answer to the previous undertaking is different than the answer that was just provided.  The date on which those projects that are listed in chart 5 began generating electricity.  I know there are dates.  We have in-service years, but it's not clear to me that that's necessarily -- that is on a yearly basis, and even if it's more specific, it is not clear to me that that's when it would have been in a position to generate incremental electricity.

MR. KOGAN:  Just to repeat that back, if the response to the previous undertaking question is such that there were increases in capacity resulting from any of those projects, to indicate when that incremental capacity came online?


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yes.  And then similarly for chart 5, when did that incremental capacity come online.

MR. KOGAN:  We will look at that.  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Thank you very much.

MR. RICHLER:  Let's just -- let's give that a new undertaking number, JT1.12.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.12:  IF THE RESPONSE TO THE PREVIOUS UNDERTAKING QUESTION IS SUCH THAT THERE WERE INCREASES IN CAPACITY RESULTING FROM ANY OF THOSE PROJECTS, TO INDICATE WHEN THAT INCREMENTAL CAPACITY CAME ONLINE.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Can we now talk about the unprescribed Kipling DA, and maybe we can go to SEC-02 for that.

MR. KOGAN:  Mr. Rubenstein, while we turn that up, in our previous conference we wanted to make the record clear regarding your question for pre-June 1, 2017 projects.  You asked whether all those projects were previously considered and approved, it would have been the EB-2016-0152 proceeding.

We would just like to make clear that there was one project that was pre-June 1, 2017, but subsequent to the consideration given in the EB-2016-0152 proceeding, and that is the Sir Adam Beck Pump GS Reservoir Refurbishment project.  And that is noted in exhibit H-1-1-1, table 7A, line 2B, and corresponding references supporting.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I'm sorry, when you are saying the 2016-0152. I think I referenced 2018-243, which would have been the DVA proceeding.

MR. KOGAN:  There were no hydroelectric CRV clearances in EB-2018-0243, for clarity.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay.  Thank you.  In part (h) we asked you about a reference in the evidence about how the costs -- that the evidence stated that ratepayers were not charged for the costs related to asset retirement, environmental liabilities, that were carried on OPG's balance sheet.

If we go to the response, you essentially -- you provide some more detail about that, but as I understand, you also did not include those in the asset services fee; do I have that right?

MR. KOGAN:  That is correct.  There was no element of the asset service fee that was related to these.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And I think the evidence and I think it was referenced in another part of this undertaking as well in your conversation with Mr. Ladanyi, that the asset service fee, with the exception, I guess, of this component, generally mimics a revenue requirement calculation, as if it had been in rate base; correct?


MR. KOGAN:  I would agree that mathematically is similar, as we have responded to an earlier part of this interrogatory.  In addition to the asset retirement obligation and environmental obligations that would not have been considered, there were also simplifying assumptions made around the tax calculation and the capital cost allowance and depreciation relationship, I think as we had previously laid out in the EB-2020-0290 proceeding as well, in some responses.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Now, with respect to asset retirement and environmental responsibilities, assume they had been -- assume this building was in the rate base.  How would -- on a revenue requirement perspective, how would you have included a cost-of-asset retirement and environmental liabilities in the revenue requirement?


MR. KOGAN:  Make sure that I understand the question, you are asking me to assume that this asset was in rate base?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Let's assume that you were including a rate base -- or for the purposes of the asset service fee you were calculating as if it mathematically would have been the same as if it had been in rate base.  What would the asset retirement environmental liabilities, how would that have been calculated and included in the revenue requirement calculation?

MR. KOGAN:  I have not turned my mind, Mr. Rubenstein, to how that could have been considered, on what basis and using what methodologies.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Is that something you could undertake?

MR. KOGAN:  I'm thinking through of the relationship of this contextual information to the amounts that we are.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I'll leave it to you if you want to answer the question. I took your response to be this is a component that we actually aren't -- you know, ratepayers aren't paying for.  That's how I read your response.  I'm just trying to understand.  What would, if ratepayers hadn't paid for that, what would that actually look like in the revenue requirement calculation?

MR. KOGAN:  Clearly, Mr. Rubenstein, these amounts were not, in the end, incurred.  These liabilities were reversed upon the sale of the Kipling site, as we have indicated here.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  No, I understand, but I took your response -- let's imagine a world without the sale, right?  I took your response in the evidence -- or your commentary in the evidence as one of the reasons why these amounts should not be -- the gains should not be provided to customers, is that there are these costs which customers never -- were never incurred.  They were on OPG's unregulated balance sheet, let me put it that way, but not on the regulated balance sheet, so to speak.  Customers were not -- I am just trying to understand, if they had been, what would that look like on a revenue requirement basis?

MR. KOGAN:  I guess I'm trying to understand.

MR. KEIZER:  I'm trying to understand why that's even relevant, though, and the fact that in reality it wasn't included, and that the position of OPG it that it was an asset service fee.  It wasn't part of the regulated rate base.  So pretending that it is doesn't change the fact that it wasn't treated as that way.  So I'm not quite sure why the hypothetical.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I leave it to you if you don't want to under to answer it. It was your -- I mean, OPG raised as a rationale for why return.  I'm trying to understand if -- and I took it that the argument here was something to the effect of ratepayers didn't pay for these asset requirement obligations.  They didn't have to incur it, and so that's one of the reasons.

I'm just trying to understand if they had what that looked like.  If you don't think that's relevant, then that's, that's -- I'll leave it at that.

MR. KEIZER:  Why don't we leave it at that, then.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Now, I understand your position on the account is that there shouldn't be anything to be disposed to customers.  I just want to actually understand.  In the context of this proceeding, are you proposing to close the account?  Or is it that the account will remain and have that amount tracked?  What is actually being sought here, if anything?


MR. KOGAN:  In our evidence, we have proposed that no clearance of this account is necessary.  While we have not explicitly stated that the account needs to be closed, I think it would follow from our position that the account should be terminated and not disposed of.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So are you proposing to close the account or not?

MR. KOGAN:  We have not proposed to close the account in this proceeding.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay.  Thank you, very much.

Can I now talk about the hydroelectric surplus baseload generation account?  And maybe we can pull up H-SEC-05.  We have asked you for a table of information with respect to SPGVA entries, the hour and day, the total amount of the entry, the number of megawatt-hours and the reason for the entry.  And you provide the information, with the exception of the reason for the entry.  And you say:
"The reason, since EB-2010-008, all entries to the SBGVA are made pursuant to the corresponding decisions and orders of the OEB."

Do you see that?

MS. ARSENEAU-MACKINNON:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And so, besides the main reason which as I understand is when it is uneconomical to operate the hydroelectric facility.  So when HOEP is less than the VRC, am I correct there is a number of other reasons.  Correct?  When there is capacity constraints, when you have been -- IESO constrains you off, when there is water constraints, contractual obligations.  There is a host of reasons; correct?

MS. ARSENEAU-MACKINNON:  No.  We make entries into the surplus baseload generation variance account to capture the financial impact of foregone production due to SBG.  So that is the sole purpose of the account.  And when we make entries into that account, it is for that reason.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Sure, but there are different reasons -- well, let me rephrase it.  There are different reasons that cause an SBG situation; correct?

MS. ARSENEAU-MACKINNON:  There are steps in the process to identify entries into the SBG account.  But, at the end of the day, they are all the result of spill resulting from -- or foregone production resulting from surplus baseload generation conditions.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Sure.  And some of those are because of the market price, correct?

MS. ARSENEAU-MACKINNON:  That's --


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  It is very low.  That is one thing.

MS. ARSENEAU-MACKINNON:  That is one --


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  That is a predominant reason, right, I believe?  But there is also other reasons.  Correct?

MS. ARSENEAU-MACKINNON:  The price is one way that we demonstrate that there is surplus baseload -- that -- there are SBG conditions.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But there are other reasons, correct?  Am I not right about this?  I may not.  I mean, if you go down to footnote 1, you point me to the evidence in a previous proceeding, where you explained reasons with respect to SBG.  And those reasons -- I mean, you don't need to pull up that evidence -- as I read them, when I went to it, include production capacity restraints due to outages, what the IESO may constrain you of, water obligations, contractual obligations.

MR. KEIZER:  But aren't those reasons for spill, but not necessarily reasons for SBG?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  Maybe that is the error I am making.

MR. KEIZER:  So I just wanted to clarify that.

MS. ARSENEAU-MACKINNON:  Yes.  And perhaps the helpful reference which I was just pulling up is 2.3.2 in our evidence.  We discuss that the determination of SBG spill excludes spill related to water conveyance constraints, production capability constraints, and contractual obligations.  What you have left over, once you exclude those buckets, is the spill volume that is potentially SBG spill.  And then utilizing the market price relative to GRC is another step in the process, ultimately landing at reporting the financial impact of foregone production due to SBG.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  Well, thank you.  As I mentioned, I may be wrong.  I thank you for identifying that.

Can I ask you now to go to SEC-04, and I may need, and just so -- I'm not sure if it's Laurie or who is running the screen, I may -- I will also have questions about the attachment, the Excel spreadsheet, so you may want to have that ready.

if we go to the response, and if we go to page 2 of that response, in the last bullet, you mention that in preparing the response you identified 107 hours between 2018 and 2021 that were "incorrectly characterized as uneconomic and should not be included."

Do you see that?

MS. ARSENEAU-MACKINNON:  Yes, I do.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And just as I understand the attachment and the hours, sorry, the original evidence that this question was based on, the attachment -- I believe it was attachment 3 to the evidence -- the underlying table is meant to show hour -- for each hour you booked amounts to the SBGVA, you didn't pump water into the PGS facility because it was uneconomic.  Correct?

MS. ARSENEAU-MACKINNON:  That is correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  And so removing those 107 hours, what are you saying?  Are you saying that it was -- I am just trying to understand what it was.  There were other reasons why it is -- that you didn't pump the water?  That it was for other reasons that were uneconomic?  Just help me understand what those 107 hours represent.

MS. ARSENEAU-MACKINNON:  I don't have the specifics for each hour in front of me, but the request -- and attachment 3 was specifically for hours that were uneconomic. We are saying for these 107 hours, there would be another reason that could be operational, for example, as to why the pumping did not occur during an SBGL.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay.  Thank you, that is helpful.

Now, if we can go to part (b), and we can go to the first bullet?  What you say is -- you explain that the losses in column XII in the attachment, which is the estimated losses if the pump was operational, "are calculated using pre-dispatch HOEP and do not directly reflect actual forecast market prices OPG uses to forecast next on-peak revenue."  Do you see that?

MS. ARSENEAU-MACKINNON:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And then you further say you use a proprietary forecast, a forecasting model, and that's not archived.  Do you see that?

MS. ARSENEAU-MACKINNON:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Now, you reference it in the context of column XII in the attachment, which is the estimated losses if the pump was operational. Is that similar to the column XII in attachment -- this is the Excel -- which is forecast revenue in the next on-peak period?  Would the same thing be the case for that, too?

MS. ARSENEAU-MACKINNON:  I think we are at the point where we have hit the level of detail that my colleague, Mr. Chidiac, would have spoken to you.  Could I take that as an undertaking?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Sure.

MR. RICHLER:  That will be JT1.13.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.13:  WITH REFERENCE TO SEC-04, PART B, TO CONFIRM WHETHER THE ESTIMATED LOSSES IF THE PUMP WAS OPERATIONAL ARE SIMILAR TO COLUMN XII IN THE ATTACHMENT, FORECASTE REVENUE IN THE NEXT ON-PEAK PERIOD; TO ADVISE HOW DECISIONS ON UTILIZATION WOULD BE AUDITED.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Now I just want to understand, if the amount -- when you mention, when you say it is not archived, that surprised me, and only in the sense of -- well, in a number of senses, one of them being, I mean, wouldn't OPG want to test its own model against actual prices?  And so we would want to understand how it is forecasting?

And then the second question, and this is really -- you could take/add this to the undertaking:  I just want to understand, if someone wanted to audit the decisions OPG makes with respect to the utilization of when it's uneconomic or economic to use the PGS isn't -- how would they do that if you are not archiving what is obviously a central part of how you are determining when it is economic or not, which is the next on-peak period price?  So maybe you could take that by way of undertaking.

MS. ARSENEAU-MACKINNON:  Yes, I will take that through undertaking.

MR. RICHLER:  So is there agreement that that will be rolled into the last one, JT1.13, Mr. Rubenstein?  Is that what you're looking for?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yes.

MR. RICHLER:  Okay.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Now, can I ask you to pull up the attachment.  Just to be clear, that's the attachment to the interrogatories, not the evidentiary attachment.

MS. ARSENEAU-MACKINNON:  Sorry, if that question was for me, is this the attachment to the interrogatory?  It is not showing on the screen, Lillian.  Thank you, we see it now.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay.  Now, with respect to column XI, this is additions to the SBGVA, do you see that?

MS. ARSENEAU-MACKINNON:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Now, I would have thought the calculation for this would have been the HOEP in that hour, minus the GRC payment, times -- in brackets, times the foregone production.  But, very often, that number comes to a number that is slightly less than what's in the SBGVA, and it is always less; it is never more.  I'm trying to understand why that would be the case.  Is that something that you could take, I would assume, by undertaking?

MS. ARSENEAU-MACKINNON:  We can undertake to provide that.

MR. RICHLER:  JT1.14.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.14:  WITH REFERENCE TO COLUMN XI, ADDITIONS TO SBGVA, TO CONFIRM THE CALCULATIONS USED FOR ADDITIONS.

MR. KOGAN:  May I just ask for a minute to confer before we proceed, if that's all right?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Sure.

[Witness panel confers.]


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Sorry, I made an error in what I just said to you, which may be what you -- I meant payment amount minus GRC, in brackets, times the foregone production, not HOEP.

MS. ARSENEAU-MACKINNON:  That is exactly what we had hoped to clarify, but, now that we've clarified it, we'll happily take the undertaking.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Now, I'm just trying to understand the calculation in XIII, so column 13.  This is in column P of the Excel, "Estimated loss if pump was operated."  And I was wondering -- and you will probably have to take this by way of undertaking.  Using the information in that table, I'm unclear how that number is calculated.  Is there other information outside of the various components of the table, that are used to calculate that?

MS. ARSENEAU-MACKINNON:  We do discuss, in response to part (b) of the undertaking, that in addition to the material provided, there are other factors that do impact the economics of pumping at the PGS.  There are a few bullets there, including the efficiency factors, including HOEP price forecasts, and then, additionally, downstream impact for pumping discharged by the PDS.  So all that is to say that there are elements of those bullets that would impact that column.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yes, I don't want to talk about the confidential.  I was wondering, then, if underneath, if there is a mathematical calculation of the various columns or if there's -- you could provide it to me, and, if there isn't and there are some other things that are entirely external here, you could let me know?  I'm just trying to figure out, is my math wrong or are there just things outside of this table that you haven't provided for, that are -- if you can help me there.

MS. ARSENEAU-MACKINNON:  We'll undertake to provide that response.

MR. RICHLER:  That will be JT1.15.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.15:  TO PROVIDE DETAIL INCLUDING MATHEMATICAL CALCULATIONS ON THE CALCULATION IN XIII, IN COLUMN P OF THE EXCEL SHEET ENTITLED "ESTIMATED LOSS IF PUMP WAS OPERATED."


MR. RICHLER:  And, Mr. Rubenstein, can I just do a time check?  We're almost at the time for our scheduled lunch break.  We are also almost at the end of the amount of time you requested.  How much longer do you think you need.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Five, ten minutes, so if we can...

MR. RICHLER:  Okay, let's go ahead.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Now, with respect to the forecast revenue account column -- this is in VII.  This is forecast revenue and next on-peak period before GRP costs.  Do you see that?

MS. ARSENEAU-MACKINNON:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Similar question there about if the math is included in the table or not, if there is some other aspect that simply can.

MS. ARSENEAU-MACKINNON:  We can take that undertaking.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And am I correct that, when you use the term, "forecast revenue," that's forecast revenue that OPG receives before any potential sharing using the HIM?

MS. ARSENEAU-MACKINNON:  I believe that is correct, so I'll take that subject to check.

MR. RICHLER:  I'm sorry, Mr. Rubenstein, but I didn't get a chance to note the last undertaking that was provided, which will be JT1.16.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.16:  TO PROVIDE THE MATHEMATICAL CALCULATIONS FOR FORECAST REVENUE ACCOUNT COLUMN VII, AND NEXT ON-PEAK PERIOD BEFORE GRP COSTS.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Can we go back to the underlying interrogatory response.  In part (c) -- just scroll up to the question -- we had asked what impact if there was no sharing of HIM revenue with customers, what impact would that have been on hours where OPG determined that there was an economic loss if it pumped the PGS.  And, in you your response, you said:
"HIM revenue sharing is not considered in the economic decision-making for PGS operations and would have no impact n the number of hours when OPG determined using the PGS will result in an economic loss."

Do you see that?

MS. ARSENEAU-MACKINNON:  Yes, I do.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Now I'm just a bit confused by the response in this regard.  As I understand the HIM requires that you share 50 percent of the revenue associated with time shifting; do I have that right?

It is a complicated calculation but essentially there is, whatever revenue you receive from the HIM you are sharing 50 percent with customers?

MS. ARSENEAU-MACKINNON:  In essence, yes, there are some nuances there with the current threshold and how that compares to our revenue performance but, in essence, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So, when you say that it's not considered, am I to take that to mean that if there was no sharing and OPG received 100 percent of the revenue, there would be no incremental pumping of the PGS when there's SBG?  Let me rephrase that.

Or at least there was in the period that we were talking about in the context of that, in the response to that interrogatory.

MS. ARSENEAU-MACKINNON:  Let me rephrase to make sure I understand the question.

Are you asking if OPG retained 100 percent of the HIM revenues, whether that would change the behaviour of the how the PGS operated?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  To some extent, yes.  I mean, your response is you don't take it into account, and I'm just trying to square that with, you know the view that, I think some -- the DMSP has commented previously that that sharing does have an affect.

And I'm just trying to understand, is it your view that that during periods of SBG you would not have pumped the PGS, you would not utilized the PGS more.  Maybe in other periods it's different but at least in periods of SBG?

MS. ARSENEAU-MACKINNON:  Can I undertake to provide a complete answer?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yes.

MR. RICHLER:  That is undertaking JT1.17.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.17:  TO CLARIFY THAT DURING PERIODS OF SBG OPG WOULD NOT HAVE PUMPED THE PGS, NOT HAVE UTILIZED THE PGS MORE.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Thank you very much, panel.  It was very helpful, thank you very much.

MR. RICHLER:  Thank you, Mr. Rubenstein.  Let's take our lunch break and come back at 1:30, please.
--- Luncheon recess taken at 12:34 p.m.

--- On resuming at 1:33 p.m.


MR. RICHLER:  Let's go back on the record now, please.  All right.  Welcome back.  Next on the list is Consumers Council of Canada.  Ms. Girvan, over to you, please.
Examination by Ms. Girvan:


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  Thanks, Ian.  Good afternoon, panel.  My name is Julie Girvan.  I am a consultant to the Consumers Council of Canada.

First off, I just have a couple of preliminary questions.  The first one is what is the current status of the market renewal program in terms of when it may potentially be put in place?  I am just not aware of that.

MS. ARSENEAU-MACKINNON:  I use those plans.  Ready date is May 2025.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  All right, thank you.  And I just wanted to be clear, just up front, what you are seeking approval for and I just want to make sure I've got the numbers right, and make sure that these are the most updated ones.

If you could pull up, whoever is managing the documents, Exhibit H-1, tab 2, schedule 1?  So, sorry, in table 1.  I am looking at the numbers that you have put forward.  Great.  Thanks.  So it is a little hard to see -- there we go.

So, in table 1, this is the hydroelectric amounts.  And from the way I understand it, you started with the 2022 year-end balance.  Then you subtract the amortization that has occurred after the last proceeding, 2020 -- 0290.

Then you have another column that is amounts deferred to future applications.  So in column (e) are the final numbers that you are seeking approval to recover.

And the total recovery is $217 million.  And I wondered what the tax on pension and OPEBs cash versus accrual.  If you could explain that to me, the extra $9.4 million?

MR. KOGAN:  Certainly.  So this tax amount represents effectively the income tax gross-up on the balance in the pension over cash versus accrual differential deferral account.

By way of history, when this account was originally established, we had raised the issue that it should capture the income tax -- these income tax effects, in order to ensure that OPG recovers the correct after-tax amount consistent with typical regulatory practice.  This was back when the account was established in EB-2013-0231.  The OEB deferred the matter to the time of clearance.

When we brought forward this account, first for clearance in EB-2018-0243, this matter was reflected in the outcome of that proceeding as allowing for recovery of these taxes for the reasons as I have stated.  And similarly, in EB-2020-0290, so just continuing the same practice in this application.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  So there is no other tax impacts arising from the other accounts?

MR. KOGAN:  With respect to the other accounts, to the extent there are tax effects to be considered, they are all captured within the account balances per their approved definition.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  So in hydroelectric, you are seeking to require $226.4 million.  Correct?


MR. KOGAN:  Correct.

MS. GIRVAN:  And that is up to date, as of today?

MR. KOGAN:  That is based on the balances at the end of year 2022, throughout the application.  And that is the basis of our request.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  So that won't change.  And then, if you could just turn to the next page, which is table 2?

And I just wanted to confirm again, under column E, the bottom amount, $276.2 million is what you are seeking to recover?

MR. KOGAN:  Correct.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  Because I think when you made the presentation to the intervenors in, I guess it was November or December, the amounts didn't include that extra tax amount.  But anyway.  So, today, at $276.2 million, that is what you are seeking to recover.

And if you could please turn to CCC-01?

MR. KOGAN:  I see that.

MS. GIRVAN:  Yes.  So from what I understand, none of OPG's accounts have a materiality threshold or a minimum balance?  Is that true?

MR. KOGAN:  I will ask Mr. Kirk to comment on that.

MR. KIRK:  That is correct.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  Would OPG be opposed to establishing any sort of minimum balance on its accounts?

MR. KOGAN:  I think, in this application, we are seeking disposition of account balances that have been recorded pursuant to orders of the OEB that had already established what the scope of those accounts are.  And we are not seeking any changes to that scope, other than what is articulated in our application.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  And are there any other aspects of your revenue requirement, subject to materiality thresholds, say, a Z-factor?  I can't remember if that is part of your rate plan.

MR. KOGAN:  I would ask Mr. Kirk to comment on the Z-factor and related elements about rate base.

MR. KIRK:  Yes.  Ms. Girvan, we do have a materiality threshold in terms of establishing deferral and variance accounts.  That is an accounting order materiality threshold of $10 million.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay, great.  So if I could take you back to that table 2 that we were just referring to, there is a couple of accounts that have a relatively small balance.  You are not seeking to recover them to date.  And the ones I know, the fitness for duty deferral account and the Pickering closure cost deferral, from what I understand you are not seeking to recover the fitness for duty because that is subject to legal challenges, I think by the unions.  Is that correct?

MR. KOGAN:  That is correct.

MS. GIRVAN:  And the other one, what is the reason for not recovering that at this time?

MR. KOGAN:  We are not seeking to recover the Pickering closure cost deferral account, because the Pickering closure-related activities are in progress, as well as evolving with recent decisions of support for next steps by the province for the Pickering refurbishment.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  So even though these are very small amounts, you are still seeking to recover them in the future, plus interest?

MR. KOGAN:  Sitting here today, I don't see a reason why we wouldn't seek to recover amounts that will record, at the appropriate time, including any interest that we would record, pursuant to OEB orders.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  All right, thank you.  Could you please turn to CCC-02, please.


So what this was asking about is what you are seeking to recover in the capacity refurbishment variance account.  And you have set out the in-service amounts in tables 7A and 7B.  How did the in-service amounts translate into the rider amounts?  I am not clear about that.

MR. KOGAN:  I will ask Ms. Viswanathan to explain the relationship.

MS. VISWANATHAN:  So, Ms. Girvan, ultimately we calculate the revenue requirement impact of those in-service amounts.  I will refer back to the discussion I had with Mr. Rubenstein earlier, particularly with regard to the hydroelectric CRVA; there are three components.

The first is the revenue requirement impact of the in-service additions prior -- for projects that were placed into service prior to June 1, 2017.

The next component is removal costs, which are noncapital costs in relation to projects that were placed in service after June 1, 2017, and until December 31, 2021.

And the last is the revenue requirement impact on projects that were placed in service between June 1, 2017 and December 31, 2021 with regard to the capital additions.

The revenue requirement impacts represent the additions that we make into the account.  And those
additions ultimately translate into the balance that we are seeking recovery for today, as of the end of 2021, for hydroelectric capacity refurbishment variance accounts specifically.

And, if we could turn to table 1 in H-1-2-1 that Ms. Girvan had referred to previously, so, if we take a look at line 6 here, so included here in the -- under column A is the revenue requirement impacts all the way until the end of 2022.

In this particular case, we are only seeking recovery up until the end of 2021, and those revenue requirement impacts, along with interest, accumulates into the balance that you see here.  And under column E is the amount that we are seeking to recover in the current application.  That, combined with the amounts for all the other accounts that you see here, applied over the forecast production that you see in line 19, under columns, I believe, G, H, and I, helps you to derive the rider that you see in line 20.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay, and is that based on actual in-service dates and actual cost?

MS. VISWANATHAN:  The balances are based on actual costs and actual in-service dates, correct.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay, and the forecast of the production is based on your last-approved rate proceeding?

MS. VISWANATHAN:  The hydroelectric forecast production shown here?

MS. GIRVAN:  Yes.

MS. VISWANATHAN:  Is based on the OEB-approved production forecasts from the preceding EB 2013-0321.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay, okay.  Thank you.  So could you please turn to CCC-03.  I just want to clarify.  I don't quite understand this answer.  I was looking at the cost over the estimate for the Sir Adam Beck unit G5 major overhaul, and it talks about incorrectly using a full-execution business case.  Can you explain to me:  Is this not a cost overrun of 9.9 million?  It is a cost difference, but is it a cost overrun, or can you explain to me what was incorrectly used?

MR. KOGAN:  Well, I can start, Ms. Girvan.  The reference to "incorrect usage" was in the original evidence filed.  At exhibit H-1-1-1, table 1 and table 7, we had included information on what the first execution VCS estimate figures were for the projects that we are seeking to clear, one of which is the one referenced in this interrogatory.

MS. GIRVAN:  Mm-hmm.

MR. KOGAN:  And we had included a figure there that was from the first full execution VCS, but that was not technically the first execution VCS because there was a partial execution VCS preceding it, and, as part of this interrogatory, we wanted to be factually clear around that, and of course we provided both of those VCS as part of the accompanying attachments.  So this was the error to which this is referring.

Having said that, the response then clarifies that, based on the stage of the cost estimate and the basis of this partial execution VCS, it is appropriate to continue to review the performance of this project against the full execution VCS, and, therefore, it is this over-variance of $9.1 million that we continue to explain --


MS. GIRVAN:  Mm-hmm.

MR. KOGAN:  -- [audio dropout] appropriate variance.

MS. GIRVAN:  So it is a cost overrun, and you set out in, like, further down what the reasons were.  That's correct?

MR. KOGAN:  It's an over-variance for which the reasons are set out below.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay, so it's more -- you spent more than you expected to spend?

MR. KOGAN:  We spent more than we expected to spend.  That is correct.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  Could you turn to CCC-05, please.  Again, I'm just trying to understand the accounting for the DTO storage project, what those numbers mean.  Can you just take me through how those numbers were derived, the 33 and the 43?

MR. KOGAN:  I'll ask Ms. Viswanathan to comment on how those figures were derived.

MS. VISWANATHAN:  So, if we could pull up, from the pre-filed evidence, table 17, please.

MS. ING:  Hi.  The sound is a bit unclear.  If you can adjust that somehow.

MS. VISWANATHAN:  Sorry.  From the pre-filed evidence, if we could, pull up table 17.

MS. ING:  That is better, thank you.

MS. VISWANATHAN:  That will be H-1-1-1, table 17.

MS. GIRVAN:  A lot of tables.

MS. VISWANATHAN:  Thank you.  So I'll first start off, Ms. Girvan, by referencing to line 12 there, where you do see the 33.4 and --


MS. GIRVAN:  Yep.

MS. VISWANATHAN:  -- the 3.9 million referenced in the interrogatory response.

MS. GIRVAN:  Mm-hmm.

MS. VISWANATHAN:  At a high-level, what these amounts represent is the revenue requirement impacts from the project at its completion that OPG is seeking to recover.  And this is based on the updated in-service timing and the updated amount that was allowed into rate base by the OEB in the last proceeding, after completion of prudence review of this project.  So that was in EB 2020-0290.

For 2020 and 2021 specifically, the payment amount in effect at the time was set by proceeding EB 2016-0152, which did not contain any forecast costs in connection with this project.  The project was included in rate base beginning January 1, 2022, as part of the OEB decision in proceeding EB 2020-0290.  So those amounts actually represent recovery in 2020 and 2021, when there were no -- there were no forecast costs for this project in the payment amounts in effect in those years, so these numbers are essentially derived based on --


MS. GIRVAN:  Oh, I see.

MS. VISWANATHAN:  -- the updated amount the OEB allowed into the rate base as per the prudence review in the last proceeding.

MS. GIRVAN:  So they are sort of going back to under-recovered in those years?

MS. VISWANATHAN:  We had no recovery in the forecast payment amount, in the payment amounts that were established in those years, so this is essentially --


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.

MS. VISWANATHAN:  -- um.  There's essentially a gap, I would say, in what was in the payment amounts for this project.  There were no dollars.  And, once the OEB approved an amount for inclusion in the rate base, after certain disallowances and a change in the in-service timing that the OPG had originally proposed, these were the revenue requirements that we are seeking to recover.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  All right.  That's clear to me now.  Thank you.  Could you please turn to CCC-07, please.  If you could, just scroll down.  I'm just trying to understand these cost overruns because, from my perspective, they seem significant.  I know that you've got an explanation, but I'm not sure I fully understand.  It sounds to me like it's primarily related to outage and OM&A.  Can you just explain why the variances are so significant in 2020 and 2021?

MR. KOGAN:  Just one moment.  If I could have a moment here, that would -- this one.

So I will start, and I may ask Mr. Tyndall to add some comments from a technical perspective.  But, essentially, the variances for these, what we title as, "Fuel Channel Life Extension Ongoing (consequential)" costs over this period boil down to several factors.  One factor is a change in the Darlington outage, planned outage, schedule that took place over '20 and '21 in connection with the change to Darlington Unit 1 refurbishment program schedule as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic.  As a result of this change, an outage that was planned on Darlington Unit 1 in 2020 was rescheduled for 2021.

However, there was an element of the work that was required to be undertaken in 2020 in order to be able to perform the necessary testing for a few channel fitness for service perspective that required us to undertake a standalone single fuel channel replacement on Darlington Unit 3.  And as a result of undertaking that work in a standalone time, the cost was higher than was originally expected when that work was going to be undertaken along with other work as part of a planned maintenance window for Unit 1 in 2020.  So that is one reason.

The second reason is also in connection with this change in the outage there was some work that would have been started -- some prerequisite work that would have been started in connection with some of the activities for that unit, that Darlington Unit 1 outage, that had been deferred as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, and so, therefore, some of those corrective activities overall had a high cost across the period.

The third reason is there was additional sampling that was required as part of the research and development activity related to the fuel channel work overall during this period in order to meet regulatory requirements.

And lastly, there was additional testing required as a result of the elevated hydrogen issue that arose from the Bruce Power reactors there was some action from the CNSC that we needed to respond to.

So, overall there was a number of activities that led to those variances, but ultimately these are non-discretional type activities related to ensuring fitness for service of the channels and related major components.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  So, it's nondiscretionary, that's what you are saying?

MR. KOGAN:  Essentially.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay, okay.  Could you please turn to CCC-08, please?  So, this is referring to the SMRs and if you could please scroll down.  We had, sort of, asked for various information regarding what's your plan regarding SMRs and what I've been told in the interrogatory is that's not relevant, we are just seeking recovery of the planning costs and that's it and nothing else is relevant.  And we had asked that you to provide the information that you provided to the province.

I guess, what I'm really looking for, as a customer, as, you know, representing customers that are paying for these costs I think it would be useful if we knew, for example, annually what do you intend to spend and I think the Board would be interested in that as well.

So, if you scroll up again, under number (c): Detailed budgets for the future years including this year, last year, sorry, you are not willing to provide that and I just think in the Board approving the amount that you are actually seeking to recover in this case, I think looking at what you intend to spend in the other years is relevant.

MR. KEIZER:  Sorry, Ms. Girvan, is that a question?

MS. GIRVAN:  Yes, I guess it's what I'd like to see is an answer to letter (c).

MR. KEIZER:  And OPG stands by the position that it's articulated in the interrogatory, they believe it not to be relevant.

MS. GIRVAN:  But the Board has got to assess the amount that you are seeking to recover in this case, and I would think future costs would be relevant to that.


MR. KEIZER:  Why would it be, though?  I mean, ultimately here we are seeking recovery of the process, a cost related to the process for the selection of technology so the question is, okay, was, you know, the cost related to that process, not the end result nor the ongoing development of the SMR over time.  We are not here at the Board just to seek approval of that or the recovery of those future costs; we are here for a very specific component of that, which is the development of the technology or a selection of the technology.

So, where -- what implications it has on the ongoing project, that's not -- we are not here seeking approval with respect to that and any future decisions that OPG makes or anything that happens related to the contractor, I mean that's something that you will assess at a later date when, you know, we come back for approval of those costs.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay, all right.  I understand your position.  Just one -- sorry, did somebody say something?  Sorry.  Just let me look through my notes, thanks.  I think those are all my questions.  Thank you.

MR. RICHLER:  Thank you, Ms. Girvan.  Next up is the IESO.  Mr. Kucharczuk?
Examination by Mr. Kucharczuk:


MR. KUCHARCZUK:  Yes, thank you.  Okay.  So, first question.  Related to the HIM, can OPG please describe the framework that it will have in place to monitor and assess the performance and efficiency of the proposed HIM?

MS. ARSENEAU-MACKINNON:  So, what might be helpful is referring to SEC interrogatory 7 where SEC had asked to provide a copy of an -- any analysis that OPG has taken in the past regarding the efficacy of the current HIM methodology.

In our response there we discuss that the HIM methodology can really only be assessed by comparing total system costs when OPG time shifts under the HIM and an alternate scenario where absent an incentive OPG does not time shift.

We stated in that response that we really don't have the ability to perform that analysis and so, in short, we don't have a framework proposed to assess the efficacy of the HIM on a go forward basis.

MR. KUCHARCZUK:  Okay.  So, you don't have a framework planned.  Is the intention to develop a framework to assess the efficiency of it?

MS. ARSENEAU-MACKINNON:  We have not contemplated, one. We assess the HIM on a forecast basis as we described using the customer benefit analysis filed in this application, so provides insight into value of having a HIM in place but we don't have a proposal to assess the HIM on a backwards looking basis.

MR. KUCHARCZUK:  Sorry, just give me one second here.  Okay, so, next question, OPG states in its response to IESO 2(b) that it would:
"Incur a revenue lost that is due to being constrained loss due to operation of its prescribed facilities and instead is due to the operation of the market."

It is the IESO's view that constrained off events are due to physical constrains on the power system, independent of the operation of a market.

Can OPG clarify what it means when it refers to being constrained off as a result of the operation of the market?

MR. KOGAN:  Can you just pull up the interrogatory response, please?  Thank you.  I think it was part of the order.

MR. KUCHARCZUK:  Yes.  It sort of overlaps the two pages, if you scroll up slightly. It says there, "and instead is due to the operation of the market."

MS. ARSENEAU-MACKINNON:  Sorry, it's possible I will need you to repeat your question, but I will point to the fact that OPG's proposal is to be compensated for -- only for the curtailment that results in forgone generation under the related CMSCs.  So it is a subset of sort of the existing CMSC bucket, if you will.  But that encompasses our proposal.   But if that doesn't answer your question, please do restate it.

MR. KUCHARCZUK:  Sure.  Maybe I will phrase it a little bit differently. Like I said, it is the IESO's view that constrained off is primarily due to the physical constraints.  But this, the response, OPG's response says it is due to the operation of the market   And I would just ask, what aspects of the market is OPG referring to?

MS. ARSENEAU-MACKINNON:  I don't know that I have more colour to add for you today, other than what's referred to in our pre-filed evidence.  So I could undertake to provide a more detailed response.

MR. KUCHARCZUK:  Okay, thank you.

MR. RICHLER:  Let's note that as undertaking J21.18.
UNDERTAKING NO. J21.18:  TO PROVIDE A MORE DETAILED RESPONSE FOR IR IESO-02B, ON THE MEANING OF "BEING CONSTRAINED OFF AS A RESULT OF THE OPERATION OF THE MARKET."


MR. KUCHARCZUK:  Okay.  Next question:  Also in the response to IESO 2(b), which requested an estimate of the changes and spill quantities and SBGVA additions due to the proposed changes, OPG responded that it "cannot provide the estimates because it is expected that MRP will provide new efficiencies that will reduce curtailment and spilling of water.  OPG's responses to SEC-06 and SEC-10 include forecast and back-test results of SBG quantities and associated costs."

Can OPG use these methods to provide the estimate the IESO requested in IESO 2(b), and if not, why not?

MR. KEIZER:  Sorry, we need the interrogatory you are referencing up on the screen, maybe?  It is different than the one that is currently here.  Right?

MR. KUCHARCZUK:  Yes.  If you -- where is it?  Yes, there it is. Sorry.

MR. KEIZER:  Perfect.  Thank you.

MR. KUCHARCZUK:  Yes.

MS. ARSENEAU-MACKINNON:  So in response to Staff-23, which we don't need to -- oh, sorry, it is already up, so we don't need to pull it up; it's already there.

We do discuss, in essence, that we don't have enough information to make that assessment.  Unfortunately, I am not familiar enough with the details of the two other analyses referred to, to comment on whether -- if an apples-to-apples type of analysis could be completed.  So I will have to undertake to do that, to provide that response.

MR. RICHLER:  So, let's note that as JT1.19.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.19:  TO PROVIDE A MORE DETAILED RESPONSE TO STAFF-23.

MR. KUCHARCZUK:  Okay, thank you.  That is it for the questions from us.

MR. RICHLER:  Thank you.  Next up on the list is Environmental Defence.  Mr. Elson, you missed this morning's roll call, so maybe before you launch into your questions, I would ask you to just give a brief introduction, please.

MR. ELSON:  That is a good idea.  Thank you.  My name is Kent Elson, and I represent Environmental Defence, and my colleague, Amanda Montgomery, I can put in an appearance for her as well.  She was here earlier this morning, just monitoring the goings-on.  Thank you for accommodating me in the schedule, and I will actually be quite brief, at least that's my hope.  And so I think we should be done early today.

I would like to start with some questions following up on interrogatory -- yes?

MR. KIRK:  Sorry, you cut out for a moment; I think my laptop froze.

MR. ELSON:  Okay.  Well, I didn't say anything all that important, so I can just continue on, I think.

MR. KEIZER:  He said he was going to be brief.  That's what he --

Examination by Mr. Elson:


MR. ELSON:  That's right.  And you will get to finish early today. I was going to ask some questions further to L-H-ED-08, so a response to our interrogatory number 8. And as that's getting pulled up and it's not even strictly necessary to pull it up, we did ask some questions relating to energy that is spilt during times when gas generation is occurring in the province.  And in response, OPG said that they weren't able to provide the information because you don't have data on when gas generation is producing in the province.

But that information is publicly available on the IESO's website.  If you just google "IESO Data Directory", and then click on the "Supply" tab, you can get the hourly generation both in terms of the total for gas generation and also the amounts for each separate gas generator.

So I am going to ask for an undertaking, and I will ask for it, you know, in a bit more specific wording than in this interrogatory, and that would be for a table that would have columns for entries into the SBGVA account, dollars and megawatts, and then the amount of gas generation in the province for that hour. And I would make that request for an undertaking subject to being able to find the necessary data in the online IESO power data directory.  And, if you have trouble finding it, please let me know and I can direct you there.

Is that an undertaking you would be able to provide?

MR. KEIZER:  Can I just ask a question of clarification, Mr. Elson?  And that is --


MR. ELSON:  Yes.

MR. KEIZER:  -- you are making reference to question (a) that is on the screen; is that correct?

MR. ELSON:  Yes.

MR. KEIZER:  And the gas generation on the margin.  And I guess, just to clarify, the IESO information that you are referencing, is that the equivalent gas generation?  Is it the one on the margin?  Or is it just simply the gas generation that ran?  Or I just want to make sure that if we are talking about an undertaking, that the data is what you are indicating it is.

MR. ELSON:  The data is for gas generation in the province.  And I think we can ignore the words, "on the margin", for the purposes of the undertaking.

MR. KEIZER:  All right.  Can I just have a moment?  And then, before I turn it over to the panel, just let me have a moment.

[Witness panel confers.]


MR. KEIZER:  Sorry.  Can I clarify, Mr. Elson, the relevance of it, how this ties into the issues that we currently have before us?

MR. ELSON:  Yes, I mean issues relating to the SBGVA.

MR. KEIZER:  But is it in terms of whether or not the amounts that were recorded in the surplus base load, you know, variance account is actually correct?

MR. ELSON:  Yes, appropriate, and also goes to the methodology.

MR. KEIZER:  In what regard?

MR. ELSON:  What do you mean?

MR. KEIZER:  Well, in other words, it goes to the methodology in terms of that the methodologies -- you know.  What is it about the gas generation with respect to it being on the margin or not on the margin have an implication on the methodology with respect to the surplus base load generation?  That's the thing we're trying to connect.

MR. ELSON:  Yes.  Part of the broader question is why there would be spillage during times when there is also gas generation.  And I am going to actually have another follow-up question which gets into that in a bit more narrow detail.

It may well be that this isn't an issue at all, and that would be the easiest from our perspective, but it is a topic we want to explore, you know, further.

MR. KEIZER:  Sorry, just give me one more moment.

[Witness panel confers.]


MR. KEIZER:  So the concern that I think they're having is that, when the amounts are recorded and the spills actually occur and the amounts are recorded in the account, OPG wouldn't have any insight into what natural gas was or wasn't running at the time.  Because of the way the system operates, we have no visibility with respect to the dispatch that the IESO would cause at the time that a spill would occur.  So, although retrospectively, looking back, things like that may happen, but it wouldn't have any implication with respect to the spill at the time.

So it would be something that would be not even within OPG's control to either, one, see, understand, or do anything about given that we're in a spill situation and you don't have visual -- any visibility into the remainder of the market at the time.

MR. ELSON:  Now, Mr. Keizer, those are fair arguments for you to make in rebuttal to a possible argument that we may make at the hearing, that we may not make at the hearing, but I don't think that that is a reason to, you know, deny us discovery of whether this is even an issue in the first place and deny us the ability to explore possible solutions; maybe yes, maybe no.  I mean, it may be that we receive the information and are satisfied that OPG is doing its best and make no submissions on this point.

But what you put forward is an argument for why, you know, there should be no change and no impact in relation to the information that we're seeking.  And that's a fair argument to make, but, you know, before we, before we get to that point, I think it's fair to ask whether there is a problem here.  At the moment, we're exploring.

We're not necessarily saying that that's -- you know, that we would seek certain relief from this, but, you know, we want to explore this issue.  We tried to explore it in the interrogatory, and, in the interrogatory, we didn't get the answer that is irrelevant.  In our interrogatory, we got the answer:  Well, we don't have information about the operation of gas plants.

And we're just looking for the information, and then we will see where that goes.  I'm not going to, you know, presuppose what submissions we will say based on that or presuppose what your responses will be, but I think what you've highlighted is, you know, arguments as opposed to, you know, points of relevance.

MR. KEIZER:  Yes, I -- well, we can differ on whether it's points of relevance or not.  I think, though, let's leave it this way, that the undertaking would be that we would consider the request that you've made; we would either identify and indicate why we can or cannot do it, and, if we can't do it, we'll indicate why we can't do it, and, if we can, we'll provide it with whatever necessary qualifications that we have.

And the reason here is we're in a little bit of a black box because we haven't seen this data that you are referring to, nor do we know necessarily how the analysis would occur.

But also included in that, whether we can't do it or not, would be, to the extent that we feel it's not relevant, we would articulate that in the response if we felt it was necessary, or any parts of it we felt were not relevant, we would articulate it as parts of it, as well.  So that's the way we would need the undertaking.

MR. ELSON:  Okay.  I think what I understood from that is that, if you can provide the information, you will, and, if you can't, you will explain why, and, if you do provide the information, you will provide qualifications in terms of the substance and the potential relevance.  Is that fair?

MR. KEIZER:  Yes, and certainly in terms of the potential relevance and whether or not we may choose not to answer it because we consider that, overall, it's not relevant.

MR. ELSON:  Well, I guess that's the best I'm going to get, so I'll take that undertaking.  You know, I'd rather hash out relevance and have that discussion here rather than in writing, but, you know, we'll have to leave it where it is.

MR. KEIZER:  Well, I think what I have articulated, though you take it as a statement of a final submission, I take it as a statement of relevance.

MR. ELSON:  Right.

MR. KEIZER:  And I think the issue we have is that it's a little bit of a black box because we don't necessarily have current visualization of what the data is, what it looks like, whatever else, so I think that's the other reason for where we are.  But let's continue on and see where we go.

MR. ELSON:  Okay, so can we have an undertaking number?

MR. RICHLER:  Yes, JT1.20.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.20:  TO PROVIDE A FURTHER RESPONSE TO L-H-ED-08, USING IESO DATA FOUND AT THE IESO POWER DATA DIRECTORY; IF THIS IS NOT POSSIBLE, TO EXPLAIN WHY.


MR. ELSON:  Thank you.  I will just add for the record, as you consider this, Mr. Keizer, that we do think it's worthwhile exploring, you know, both whether it's appropriate to be spilling when there is gas that is being generated, when that's appropriate, whether there are ways to avoid that, you know, why we would want to avoid that.  And, you know, I think those are valid questions, and we're not presupposing the answers to those questions by asking this.  So I'll leave that to you, and I hope we will be able to explore that a little bit further.

I'm going to ask another undertaking, which is:  Further to what we just said, for each hour where water is being spilt and gas is operating in the province, can you provide a table that names the hydro facilities responsibility for the SBGVA entries and the name of the gas generators that are running in those hours, subject to being able to find the necessary data in the online IESO power data directory.  Can you provide that undertaking, please?

MR. KEIZER:  I will need another moment, please.  Thanks.

MS. ING:  Sorry, I didn't get that.

MR. ELSON:  Mr. Keizer said that he would need another moment, I believe.

MR. KEIZER:  So, ultimately on the basis of relevance it is the same position we had previously and I have previously stated that these coincidences or whatever may be happening in the system is not something that goes to the recording of information within the SBG account on a historical basis nor is it something that OPG has control over.

But to the extent that any undertaking is given, it would be with the same caveats as that we had previously, including the caveat that we would articulate as to why we believe it not to be relevant, particularly because this would take some consideration as to what it means in terms of the data, how it's applied, and whether it has any relevance whatsoever with respect to the issues in this proceeding.

MR. ELSON:  I think the gist of that, Charles, was that you are providing an undertaking on the same basis as the previous one for my request; is that correct?

MR. KEIZER:  It's on the same basis, yes.

MR. ELSON:  Okay.  Could we have a number, please?

MR. RICHLER:  JT1.21.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.21:  FOR EACH HOUR WHERE WATER IS BEING SPILT AND GAS IS OPERATING IN THE PROVINCE, CAN YOU PROVIDE A TABLE THAT NAMES THE HYDRO FACILITIES RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE SBGVA ENTRIES AND THE NAME OF THE GAS GENERATORS THAT ARE RUNNING IN THOSE HOURS, SUBJECT TO BEING ABLE TO FIND THE NECESSARY DATA IN THE ONLINE IESO POWER DATA DIRECTORY, WITH THE SAME CAVEATS AS GIVEN IN JT1.20.


MR. ELSON:  Thank you.  Now I have a question that is not for an undertaking, I'm sorry if I'm boring you, panel, by not asking you enough questions.

This is further to part (c) of this interrogatory response.  This is ED-08.  And in response you said:
"Generally such hydroelectric spill occurs off peak when gas-fired generation is not running."

And I just noted the word "generally."  And my question is, you know, at a high level, what are the kinds of situations where you would find hydroelectric spill occurring when gas-fired generation is running?

MS. ARSENEAU-MACKINNON:  My understanding is that such a situation could occur as in the lead time for when gas units are, sort of, preparing to meet a peak.

MR. ELSON:  And can you elaborate on than a little bit more?

MS. ARSENEAU-MACKINNON:  I could not.

MR. ELSON:  By "lead time" do you mean, you know, gas-fired generation would usually come on for a, sort of, four-hour minimum, and so gas may be dispatched in anticipation for peak times and also have spillage at the same time?  Is that, generally, what you meant?

MS. ARSENEAU-MACKINNON:  That is generally what I meant, but I can't really speak to the specifics of gas facilities' operations.

MR. ELSON:  Okay.  Are there any other examples of when hydroelectric spill is occurring when gas-fired generation is running?

MS. ARSENEAU-MACKINNON:  Not that I'm specifically aware of, as I sit here now, but given the absence of our more detailed panelist would take the undertaking to provide a more fulsome response if there are other items -- other instances that my team is aware of.

MR. ELSON:  That would be very much appreciated and maybe we would ask for an undertaking to elaborate on your first answer to in this question and to provide details on all of the instances or situations, I should say, in which hydroelectric spill is occurring when gas-fired generation is running?

MR. KEIZER:  Well, I think you have to be careful with the words "all of", because there may be circumstances we don't necessarily have awareness of.  Because there may be other things going on in the system.  So I think the witness gave an example, and she was going to seek whether there were other circumstances.  So, I just wanted to be careful of the wording of the undertaking that we could comply with.

MR. ELSON:  Circumstances or situations you would be aware of occurring.

MR. KEIZER:  That's fine.

MR. RICHLER:  That's JT1.22.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.22:  TO CONFIRM WHETHER OPG IS AWARE OF CIRCUMSTANCES OR SITUATIONS WHEN HYDROELECTRIC SPILL IS OCCURRING WHEN GAS-FIRED GENERATION IS RUNNING.

MR. ELSON:  Okay.  Thank you.  I'm going to move to my last area of questions, and this relates to the GRC and its impact on the spill rate and whether its being approached in the best way to minimize total system costs.  But, just from a high-level, to sort of set the stage for my next question, you know, my understanding, you know, roughly is that hydro facilities will not provide power to the grid for a price less than the GRC.  Is that right?

MS. ARSENEAU-MACKINNON:  So, I want to make sure I understand the question.  We do talk in the SBG study and other areas of our application about the cost-based offer that we make for our hydroelectric facilities.  And then you are equally aware of the fact that we earn a regulated payment amount from a compensation perspective for our hydroelectric facilities.  So, I'm just not sure if I'm making the connection to what exactly you're asking for here.

MR. ELSON:  I guess, the minimum bid is the GRC.  Would that be fair to say, for your hydro facilities?

MS. ARSENEAU-MACKINNON:  No, not across the board, so must-run facilities would be the lower than GRC.

MR. ELSON:  And in terms of entries into the SBGVA, those are in instances where you are not generating electricity at hydro facilities that have a minimum bid of the GRC; is that correct?

MS. ARSENEAU-MACKINNON:  Yes, that would be fair to say.  But where we're incurring still as a result of surplus base load generation that those instances would have been offered to the market at GRC.

MR. ELSON:  At GRC, okay.  Let's just say, hypothetically that the GRC didn't exist, would that result in less spillage?

MS. ARSENEAU-MACKINNON:  I don't think I could speculate on what the whole market outcome and impact would be of a world without GRC.

MR. ELSON:  It may have no impact, which would close this issue for me and answer all my questions because no other generators bid into the market between zero dollars and the GRC and that may be the answer, but it might be something that you want to take away with your colleague.  And so, my question would be, you know, perhaps, by way of undertaking, to answer that hypothetical question.  If the GRC didn't exist and those facilities are bidding in lower than the GRC, would that result in less spillage or would it result in the same amount of spillage because no other generators are bidding into the market between zero and the GRC?

I'm fine if your colleague comes back and says, you know, we don't know for sure but here are some thoughts, you know, caveats in the answer, but it would be helpful to have your thoughts and your colleagues' thoughts by way of an undertaking, on a best-efforts basis.

MR. KEIZER:  No, I don't think that's an undertaking that OPG is prepared to give, because I think it is pure speculation.  And I think the concern is that it is a circumstance and a hypothetical that doesn't exist or doesn't have a factual basis for it.  And the second is that it would require OPG to speculate as to what the implication would be, given the vast dynamics of the marketplace.

MR. ELSON:  What I am trying to get at, Mr. Keizer, without getting into a big debate about, you know, how OPG should be operating its facilities is, you know, how the GRC should be created, you know, should be dealt with.

And I would really appreciate an answer to this question because it may -- I actually suspect that the answer to the question will mean that it is not an issue that I am going to pursue, but I don't know that for sure.

And so what I am trying to figure out is if GRC were approached differently in terms of OPG's, you know, strategies in terms of avoiding spill, would that result in less spillage?

So I am asking about a hypothetical.  My hypothetical is not just a GRC disappearing, but something more complex that I don't think we need to get into at the moment.

So I would appreciate an answer, and it may be that the answer makes the issue go away, which is easy for OPG.  Or it may mean that it is something I want to explore more.

You know, your witnesses have knowledge about power markets and are fully capable of answering this question.  And I would just ask you to take it away and give it some thought for a moment, with your colleague, about whether you can provide that undertaking on a best-efforts basis.

MR. KEIZER:  Well, give me a moment, and I will be right back to you.

MR. ELSON:  Thanks.

[Witness panel confers.]


MR. KEIZER:  Mr. Elson, my response remains the same, that it would cause an inordinate amount of speculation on the part of OPG to be able to respond to that question.  And so, as a result, we are not going to take the undertaking.


MR. ELSON:  Well, that is thoroughly unhelpful, but I will have to take that answer as it is and move on to my next question.

My next question relates to the impact of the GRC on the pump and generation rates at the PGS.  I am going to ask for, you know, again, high-level comments from the witness panel.

If the GRC was not factored into the equations that determine when to pump and when to generate, and the GRC was working through other means, other regulatory means, would the PGS pump and generate more frequently?


MR. KEIZER:  Mr. Elson, I think this is the same question, just in a different direction in terms of the pump.  But it also comes down to the issue of generation or not, which is, I think -- this is a continuation of the same theme.

So to the extent that the previous undertaking was -- we weren't prepared to take, we are not prepared to take this undertaking either.

MR. ELSON:  Well, I am not asking for an undertaking; I am asking for your panel to comment on it.

I will note the difference, Mr. Keizer, is the GRC operates quite differently when you are talking about a hydro facility versus the pumping station.  And, you know, the relevance of the GRC is different to, you know, each strategy.  And when it comes to the GRC and hydro, the question would be if you find some other way to compensate OPG for the GRC, and change its bidding strategy, would any other generator, you know, actually be bidding into that range?  Whereas with the pumping station, there is quite a lot of different considerations.

You may object to it but I would, you know, appreciate hearing from your panel on it and, if they don't have any comments, then an undertaking.

MR. KEIZER:  Well, my concern is it does cause them to speculate with respect to the whole nature of the market, and the fact that the hypothetical is one which does not, you know, necessarily have a clear factual foundation for it.  So that's my concern with the nature of the question.

So I am objecting to the question, I guess, more than anything else.

MR. ELSON:  Okay.  Well, that's also an unhelpful answer, and will make it difficult to address moving forward on these issues, collaboratively with OPG.  But that's all I can do, and those are my questions.
Preliminary Matters:


MR. RICHLER:  Thank you, Mr. Elson.  And thank you to all the OPG witnesses.

Before we close, just one quick housekeeping matter.  There were a number of undertakings given today, and I don't believe the procedural order set a date for answering undertakings.  So I am just wondering if I could ask you, Mr. Keizer, if you might be able to give the rest of us a sense of when we could expect to see those answers, bearing in mind that the settlement conference starts on Monday, April 15?

MR. KEIZER:  Well, let me take a moment and see if I can clarify now.  Otherwise, we would have to clarify in correspondence, subsequently.  Just give me a moment.

[Witness panel confers.]


MR. KEIZER:  Thank you.  So I think today there have been -- I think there are 22 undertakings, some of which are fairly complex and, in some circumstances, we may not even know necessarily how we are going to attack them yet.

So I think the objective is to the extent we can get them done in tranches, we will provide them to people.  We would hope that most would be done the Thursday before the settlement conference.

Some may trail into Friday but, obviously, the objective is for -- to have information available to people in advance of the settlement conference.

MR. RICHLER:  Thank you.  Mr. Rubenstein, I see you turned your camera on.  Did you have something to say?


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  No, that's fine.  I just would ask when OPG does circulate them, that they actually -- just because of the limited time, that they are actually sent by e-mail and not -- you know, we have put it on the web drawer, because then that adds extra delay.

MR. KEIZER:  You want us to serve it to you as we get them done, right?


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yes.


MR. KEIZER:  And rather than wait for the next day to be filed, if they get filed late or whatever else.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yes.


MR. KEIZER:  Understood.

MR. RICHLER:  Okay, so thanks, everyone.  That brings us to a close.  This technical conference is adjourned.
--- Whereupon the conference concluded at 2:43 p.m.

87

